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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Good morning,

          3  everyone.  Good morning and welcome.  Let me first

          4  apologize for being late.  I was at a ribbon cutting

          5  ceremony at a senior center for my district and I

          6  gave myself enough time that it would take to come

          7  down to City Hall, but, you know, be that as it may,

          8  I had bumper to bumper traffic continuously all the

          9  way down to City Hall. So, let me apologize for

         10  being late.  I do not like to be late, whether or

         11  not I'm Chairing a hearing or whether or not I'm a

         12  member of a hearing.

         13                 I'm trying to turn off my cell phone

         14  now.  But, today, the Education Committee will hear

         15  Intro. No. 396, a Local Law that would require the

         16  New York City Department of Education to report on

         17  the implementation of Billy's Law. Billy's Law is a

         18  State Law that seeks to improve state and local

         19  monitoring of out-of-state residential facilities

         20  that house and educate New York State students.

         21                 Intro. 396 would require that the

         22  Department of Education issue biannual reports to

         23  the City Council on its monitoring of New York City

         24  children placed out of state and of the facilities

         25  themselves.
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          2                 Under the state law, school districts

          3  are authorized to enter into a contract with an

          4  educational facility located out of New York State,

          5  to provide instruction to a student when there are

          6  no appropriate public or private facilities in our

          7  state that can provide education for the children.

          8                 For the most part, students who are

          9  sent out of state to residential facilities have

         10  very severe disabilities that require 24- hour

         11  supervision.  Unfortunately, once these children are

         12  sent out of state, it becomes very difficult to make

         13  sure that they are safe and cared for properly.  As

         14  is evidenced by the fact that there have been

         15  numerous allegations of abuse and neglect stemming

         16  from out- of- state residential placements.

         17                 Last spring, the State Education

         18  Department conducted a surprise investigation of one

         19  residential facility in Massachusetts, the Judge

         20  Rotenberg Center.  As of last spring, there were 118

         21  New York City students at the JRC, and that's the

         22  Judge Rotenberg Center, which represents

         23  approximately 82 percent of the student population.

         24                 The JRC is a costly institution for

         25  the Department of Education.  According to the state
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          2  investigator's report, it costs approximately

          3  $200,000.00 per child to send a student there.  One

          4  of the most controversial aspects of the JRC's

          5  behavioral programming is its use of what is known

          6  as Level Three aversive interventions.  Level Three

          7  interventions involve a broad spectrum of punishment

          8  techniques that include movement limitation, control

          9  of food intake and electric skin shock.

         10                 According to the investigator's

         11  reports, the JRC's use of these techniques was

         12  excessive and posed health and safety concerns for

         13  the students subjected to the treatments.  The

         14  investigators also found that staff administering

         15  intensive treatments such as these were not

         16  adequately trained.  In fact, more than two- thirds

         17  of the direct care providers at the JRC have

         18  completed only a high school education.

         19                 Finally, the investigators concluded

         20  that students at the JRC were being provided with

         21  insufficient academic and special education

         22  instruction and related services.

         23                 Now, this is just a snapshot of the

         24  shocking findings of the State Education

         25  Department's report.  This is only one facility.
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          2  Over the past few years, there have been other

          3  incidents involving allegations of abuse and neglect

          4  stemming from out- of- state residential facilities.

          5    In some of these cases, students were severely

          6  injured and in a few cases, children actually died.

          7                 This is totally unacceptable.  It

          8  makes you wonder whether anyone is paying attention

          9  to these children at all.  I know, from speaking

         10  with Linda Wernikoff, who will be testifying today,

         11  that the Department of Education has its own

         12  concerns about the safety and well-being of the

         13  students sent out of state.

         14                 I also know that the Department of

         15  Education might say that, well, it is the

         16  responsibility of the State Education Department to

         17  monitor these facilities and to take them off the

         18  list of approved facilities if they do not think

         19  they are appropriate places.  But, let's be honest

         20  about it, we cannot pass the buck when it comes to

         21  the safety and well- being of the students.

         22                 We have to make sure that we do

         23  whatever it takes to protect these children from

         24  harm and/or neglect.  That's why we're here in this

         25  Hearing today for this bill.  Now, without any
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          2  further adieu, I would like to turn to Council

          3  Member Gentile, who is the prime sponsor of this

          4  bill.  So, Council Member Gentile, my colleague from

          5  Brooklyn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Application

          7  of noxious, painful intrusive stimuli or activities

          8  intended to induce pain, such as electric skin

          9  shock, ice applications, hitting, slapping,

         10  pinching, kicking, hurling, strangling, shoving,

         11  deep muscle squeezes, movement limitation,

         12  withholding sleep, withholding shelter, withholding

         13  bedding, withholding bathroom facilities,

         14  withholding clothing, withholding meals, withholding

         15  hydration.

         16                 These may sound like the rules and

         17  regulations that are associated with the treatment

         18  of prisoners.  This rendition may also appear to

         19  serve as an instruction guide to conduct an

         20  interrogation or how- to guide about torture.  Yet,

         21  what these are, are the definitions of the aversive

         22  behavioral interventions as defined by the New York

         23  State Board of Regents, New York State Department of

         24  Education in the recent report.

         25                 These are the interventions that the
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          2  Board of Regents have sought to regulate, but not

          3  eliminate, with proposed permanent regulations for

          4  out- of- state schools that use some of these stated

          5  types of abuse on the New York City children that we

          6  send them.  Yes, it's the world of the most

          7  vulnerable special needs students who are sent to

          8  out- of- state facilities because a determination is

          9  made that their needs cannot be met by facilities

         10  within the State of New York.

         11                 Regulation and oversight of these

         12  institutions has, for too long, been nearly non-

         13  existent by New York State and New York City

         14  officials.  That, thankfully, has begun to change

         15  with the recent passage of the state law known as

         16  Billy's Law and today, with the Introduction of 396

         17  in the City Council.

         18                 The proposed local law adds to

         19  Billy's Law's protection by mandating the Department

         20  of Education to issue biannual reports pertaining to

         21  the City's adherence and implementation of Billy's

         22  Law.

         23                 While serving in the State Senate, I

         24  was one of the prime sponsors of Billy's Law, with

         25  my then Assembly colleague, Assembly Member Joan
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          2  Millman.  Billy's Law is a law that affords families

          3  greater protections when making that difficult and

          4  heart- wrenching decision to send their child to an

          5  out- of- state facility.  The Law established the

          6  Council on Children and Families, which is the

          7  compilation of the state agencies and their

          8  respective departments who have oversight of these

          9  students and the programs in which they enroll.

         10                 Billy's Law became law in August of

         11  last year and it targets the children placed in the

         12  out- of- state facilities, whether it be for

         13  rehabilitation, educational or psychological

         14  purposes.  The established council acts an out- of-

         15  state placement committee and develops requirements

         16  for these institutions to be included in the out-

         17  of- state registry that the Law creates.

         18                 These requirements include site

         19  visits by the Council, a review of current license

         20  holders and whether the legal structure exists to

         21  handle complaints of abuse and neglect and whether

         22  the type of care is provided is consistent with New

         23  York State laws and agency regulations.

         24                 Secondly, Billy's Law establishes

         25  recommended contract parameters for use by the state
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          2  and local agencies when contracting with out- of-

          3  state facilities.

          4                 Finally, it establishes a model

          5  process for the placement of children that can be

          6  implemented at the state and local level.

          7  Statewide, this Law seeks to protect 1,400 students

          8  throughout the state of New York.

          9                 The recent passage of Billy's Law in

         10  the state shows that just because some of New York

         11  City's most vulnerable special needs children are

         12  many, many miles away, it doesn't mean that we have

         13  to be.  We, in government, have a responsibility to

         14  these children, their parents, and their families.

         15  Out of sight should not be out of mind.

         16                 As my colleague and Chairman said,

         17  the recent report by the State Education Department

         18  talks about the Judge Rotenberg Center in

         19  Massachusetts and we will be talking more about that

         20  in a very few minutes.  According to that state

         21  report, the Center staff at Judge Rotenberg often

         22  use aversive techniques and devices merely out of

         23  pure convenience to control not otherwise dangerous

         24  behavior.

         25                 As recently as this past summer, New
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          2  York City had more than 70 children placed there.

          3  While we have no jurisdiction or authority to compel

          4  changes in New York State Law and how they deal with

          5  these out- of- state facilities, we, as the Chairman

          6  said, on the City Council, can try to implement an

          7  additional safeguard to add to the state's safety

          8  attempts through Billy's Law.

          9                 So, the Introduction discussed today,

         10  Intro. 396, does the following:

         11                 It creates the requirement of

         12  biannual January and September reports by the New

         13  York City DOE regarding New York City children

         14  placed in out-of-state educational facilities. That

         15  report must be sent directly to the City Council.

         16                 The report given by DOE to this

         17  Council would call for the following information:

         18  The identification of the center and where it is

         19  located; the number of students placed there;

         20  reporting of any enforcement action by a government

         21  entity taken against the license or the charter of

         22  that facility; and the report would describe any

         23  reported abuse and neglect at the facility regarding

         24  a New York City DOE placement, whether investigation

         25  done by the New York City Department of Ed. And
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          2  whether the child's parents and the State Ed. Were

          3  notified by the New York City Department of

          4  Education.

          5                 It would describe any progress or

          6  outcome by the Department of Ed.'s investigation and

          7  whether any action was taken by the facility as a

          8  consequence of the investigation by DOE.  That

          9  report, submitted twice a year to the City Council,

         10  is in the hope that we can have better oversight of

         11  the situation at any given out- of- state facility

         12  that serves New York City kids.

         13                 This information will also be

         14  critical to parents about the centers that are

         15  housing their children.  These reports and increased

         16  oversight and protection not only serve as a

         17  deterrent to any sort of horrific or less than

         18  humane behavior, but more importantly, it forces

         19  better initial choices by the agency in placing our

         20  children.  The reports also help put oversight back

         21  into the system and the need to regulate back into

         22  regulation.

         23                 I look forward to the testimony on

         24  the bill and the support of my colleagues.  Thank

         25  you Mr. Chairman.

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  Let

          3  me just introduce my colleagues that are present

          4  here this morning.  To my right is Lew Fidler of

          5  Brooklyn, Oliver Koppell of the Bronx, my left is

          6  Domenic Recchia of Brooklyn.

          7                 Let me just say to the members of the

          8  audience and people that are here today, that this

          9  morning there's another Hearing that's taking place

         10  in the Land Use Committee.  We have many Members on

         11  the Education Committee that are Members of the Land

         12  Use Committee.  In fact, I am going to have to leave

         13  to walk over to City Hall to vote in Land Use and

         14  come back over here.

         15                 But, first, let me just open up on

         16  our first witness.  Before we do that, you know, my

         17  colleague, Vincent Gentile, mentioned about Billy's

         18  Law.  In fact, we have today in the Hearing, I'm

         19  going to turn it over to you, so maybe you can

         20  introduce the individual Billy's Law is named after.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Mr.

         22  Chairman, thank you so much for the opportunity.

         23  Billy's Law is named after Billy Albanese, who is

         24  with us here today.  Billy and his dad, for almost

         25  ten years now, have been fighting to get better
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          2  protections on those students that are sent to out-

          3  of- state facilities.

          4                 It's been a long struggle and I know

          5  that working with him in the State Senate, and since

          6  then, Joan Millman, working with him, along with the

          7  people in, Senator Golden and Assemblywoman Millman

          8  have passed this bill last year.  It was signed by

          9  the Governor and Billy's with us here today and I

         10  think he'll be part of the testimony later on this

         11  morning.  So, thank you, Billy, for being here and

         12  thank you, Mr. Albanese, for your efforts, thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  With that,

         15  we'll hear from the first witness today is Linda

         16  Wernikoff, who is a Senior Instructional Manager for

         17  Special Education at the Department of Education.

         18  She's joined by one of her colleagues and I'm going

         19  to ask you, Linda, if you don't mind, introduce your

         20  colleague or have your colleague introduce herself.

         21                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  First, I'll introduce

         22  my colleague, Marykate O'Neil (phonetic), who is the

         23  head of the Special Ed. Department at our Office of

         24  Legal Services.  I know that many of you are

         25  lawyers.  So, I make sure I always bring my lawyer.
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          2                 Thank you Chairman Jackson and City

          3  Council Members for the opportunity to speak to you

          4  today.  All New York City students with disabilities

          5  are important to us, especially those students whose

          6  needs are so severe that they require 24 hour

          7  continuous program in a residential setting to

          8  maintain educational gains.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Sorry, Linda,

         10  do you have a copy of your written testimony?

         11                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  As a matter of fact,

         12  I will get it to you as soon as I finish, because I

         13  only brought one copy, so I apologize.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, I'm

         15  sorry.  Can you start again please.

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         18                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I'll start with

         19  thanking Chairman Jackson and the Council, again,

         20  for the opportunity to speak. All New York City

         21  students with disabilities are important to us,

         22  especially those whose educational needs are so

         23  severe that they require 24- hour continuous program

         24  in a residential program.

         25                 These students demonstrate a need for
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          2  total supervision during activities of daily living,

          3  intensive programming beyond the school day to meet

          4  their educational goals and to maintain their

          5  educational progress and intensive programming to

          6  accommodate their physical and emotional

          7  disabilities, which interfere with their educational

          8  progress.

          9                 I think it's really important to

         10  understand the process that takes place which leads

         11  to the placement of a student in an approved out-

         12  of- state residential program.  If an IEP team

         13  composed of various participants, including school

         14  staff and a parent, determines that there is no

         15  public school placement appropriate to address the

         16  needs of this child, which are very unique needs,

         17  the case is sent down to our Central Based Support

         18  Team.  The Central Based Support Team is a centrally

         19  administered office at the Department of Ed., which

         20  assists the local committees on special education to

         21  identify placements, including placements in state-

         22  approved residential programs.

         23                 These state- approved non- public

         24  schools are approved by the New York State Education

         25  Department, who monitors their operations.

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Similarly, SED is the sole authority who, based upon

          3  audits and regular monitoring, approves new schools

          4  and removes existing schools from state- approved

          5  lists.

          6                 It is also important to recognize

          7  that parents have significant due process rights

          8  that are guaranteed throughout this process,

          9  starting with their membership as part of the IEP

         10  team.  Parents must provide informed, parental

         11  consent in order to place their child in out- of-

         12  state residential program.  To that end, the New

         13  York City Department of Education provides parents

         14  with visitations to sites, including transportation

         15  or transportation reimbursement, so they can make an

         16  informed decision regarding the appropriateness of

         17  the school.

         18                 I'm just going to interject some

         19  things.  I mean, one of the things I think is

         20  important is that when you're placing a child in any

         21  residential program, whether it's in- state or out-

         22  of- state, it is a true partnership with the parent.

         23    Many times the majority of instances, it is the

         24  parent who come to us and say, I really do believe

         25  my child needs a residential program because their
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          2  needs are so great that we're really having a hard

          3  time maintaining all the kind of support they need.

          4  So, we don't unilaterally place children in out- of-

          5  state facilities or in state facility, residential

          6  programs.

          7                 We also make sure that both the

          8  parent and the student visit as many in- state and

          9  out- of- state residential programs that would meet

         10  their unique needs, so that parents can make

         11  informed choices, whether it's talking to the staff

         12  there, talking to other parents who have children

         13  there, so that they can actually make an informed

         14  choice about the school that they want.

         15                 Similarly, the New York City

         16  Department of Ed. Provides transportations for home

         17  visits for these students five times a year.  We

         18  also are very cognizant of the fact that we want to

         19  keep the family and the student connected.  Just

         20  because you're in a residential program doesn't mean

         21  that you are disconnected, should be disconnected

         22  from the family.  So, we do provide home visits five

         23  times a year.  Some students have such severe needs

         24  that they are unable to come home for home visits,

         25  so instead, we provide transportation to the parent
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          2  to go visit the facility instead of the child coming

          3  home.

          4                 Only, and only in the event that all

          5  in- state residential placements are exhausted will

          6  SED approve the placement of a student in an

          7  approved out- of- state residential placement,

          8  either as a regular placement or as an emergency

          9  placement.  To give you a sense of the numbers,

         10  there are approximately 180,000 students with

         11  disabilities in New York City who attend public,

         12  private, parochial and approved non- public schools

         13  who receive special education services.  The

         14  preponderance of these students are served in the

         15  New York City public schools.

         16                 The number of New York City students

         17  in out- of state residential programs has steadily

         18  decreased since August of 2005, with the passing of

         19  Billy's Law.  Just to give you some numbers, there

         20  were 551 New York City students in out- of- state

         21  residential programs during the 2004/2005 school

         22  year.  For the last school year, 2005/2006, there

         23  were 497, and to date, the number of students

         24  currently in out- of- state residential programs is

         25  337.
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          2                 I will say that the state has, our

          3  policy at the New York City Department of Education

          4  was always to seek an in state school before seeking

          5  any out- of- state facility.  I think what the

          6  passing of Billy's Law has done, which has been an,

          7  a significant help to the Department, is that the

          8  state has worked with their in- state programs to,

          9  whether it was modifying their tuition rates, to

         10  really build and broaden their capacity to serve a

         11  greater range of students.

         12                 Previously, some of these schools,

         13  whether it was because of tuition they received or

         14  the staff they had, really were not able to serve a

         15  broader, a broad range of students, which actually

         16  forced us to look for schools that were out of

         17  state.  So, I will say that they have expanded the

         18  capacity, the in- state schools.

         19                 I also think it's important  --  I'm

         20  just jumping around because I want to give you some

         21  sense of numbers.  The 337 students that are

         22  currently in out- of- state residential placements,

         23  these are not new students.  Many of these students

         24  have been there for a year or two years.  So, I

         25  wanted to give you a sense of in the last six
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          2  months, we have placed 15 students in out- of- state

          3  placements.

          4                 But, I do want to point out that out

          5  of those 15, five of those were as a result of

          6  parents going to an impartial hearing, requesting

          7  that their child be sent to a particular out of-

          8  state facility, although we had found an in- state

          9  facility that would, we believe and the school

         10  believed, would appropriately serve their child.

         11                 So, I do think that we need, there is

         12  parent choice involved and parents have the right to

         13  go to hearings. So, some of the children that are in

         14  out- of- state facilities are there not because we

         15  have placed them there, but their parents have

         16  sought out a hearing officer decision that would

         17  order us. It is a binding, legal decision that we

         18  should, that this is the school, the out- of- state

         19  school that the child should go to based on the

         20  parent's desire and hearing evidence.

         21                 The New York City Department of

         22  Education is able to provide the Council with the

         23  name and location of each of our state, out- of-

         24  state residential programs and the numbers of

         25  students approved by SED each year to attend these
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          2  schools.

          3                 The other categories of information

          4  the bill addresses, however, are within the purview

          5  of the state. Moreover, as the bill appears to

          6  recognize, we cannot provide any reports containing

          7  student identifiable information because of privacy

          8  of such information is protected by federal law.

          9                 We appreciate and share the Council's

         10  care and concern for these students and we certainly

         11  will provide you with any information that we have,

         12  unless it's about an individual child, which we

         13  can't under FERPA, because it's protected.

         14                 I also wanted to say something about

         15  the Judge Rotenberg Center.  I know I met with

         16  Council, some Council Members.  It might have been

         17  in May of last year.  Just so you, at, let me just

         18  give you numbers of kids who are currently there.

         19  Currently, at the JRC Center, there are 104

         20  students.

         21                 After speaking with the Council

         22  Members and what we wanted to do and we have since

         23  done, is we sent a letter to each of the parents of

         24  any New York City child who is attending Judge

         25  Rotenberg Center.  We made available to the parents
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          2  that state monitoring report that Council Members

          3  described, as well as the new state regulations

          4  about the use of any aversive methodologies.  We

          5  offered to those parents a central number for them

          6  to call, at my office, if they wanted to discuss

          7  anything further or if they wanted a new placement

          8  for their child after seeing all this information.

          9                 I will tell you that we sent out, at

         10  the time, it was 106 letters and we got calls from

         11  three parents, asking for change in placements,

         12  which we have worked on doing.  The remainder of the

         13  parents want and chose to stay there.

         14                 In addition, I will tell you that out

         15  of the five impartial hearings that we've had over

         16  the last six months, three have, three of them had

         17  been for parents requesting their child to go to

         18  JRC, although we did not recommend that program.  We

         19  recommended an in- state program.  So, I just wanted

         20  to give you a sense that there is a lot of parent

         21  involvement, as there should be, because this is a

         22  residential placement.  These are current numbers.

         23                 I also want to, I know some of the

         24  Council Members may be aware that the state has

         25  passed emergency regulations prohibiting the use of
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          2  the aversives (phonetic).  The only way that any

          3  child could continue to get aversives is by an

          4  individual child specific waiver.  That is, that the

          5  state has established a panel, a three- person panel

          6  of experts.  Any child who, parent who believes

          7  their child should get aversives or wants to get

          8  aversives, they have to all go to this panel.

          9  Documentation has to be sent to the panel and the

         10  panel will then make a recommendation.

         11                 So, it's an individual student

         12  waiver.  They have absolutely removed the ability

         13  for any schools to do any kind of aversives unless

         14  there is a child- specific waiver approved by the

         15  three panel commission at the State Education

         16  Department.

         17                 Thank you and I'm certainly here to

         18  take questions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Our Chairman

         20  is voting at another Committee.  So, he's asked me

         21  to begin the questioning here.

         22                 Ms. Wernikoff, when you read about

         23  what goes on at places like JRC, the Judge Rotenberg

         24  Center in Massachusetts, where, you know, one report

         25  says that, in some cases, the student has his hands
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          2  and feet restrained and then is shocked five times,

          3  at random intervals, over a period that can last up

          4  to 30 minutes.  And, that those shocks are painful

          5  shocks, muscular control is lost, as one report has

          6  it of these shocks that are given at the Judge

          7  Rotenberg Center.  After reading something like

          8  that, is the best that the City Department of

          9  Education can do is just recommend that parents not

         10  place their children there? Is that the best that

         11  the City Department of Education can do?

         12                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  First of all, I want

         13  to step back and say a couple of things.  First of

         14  all, New York City public schools, we do not use any

         15  kind of aversives and we only use positive behavior

         16  supports.  I want to also say that any, in order for

         17  even Judge Rotenberg's Center to use any kind of

         18  aversives that they use, it required them with

         19  parental consent and with the parent to get a court

         20  order in the State of Massachusetts, where they

         21  reside, to enable to use these.  So, the issue of,

         22  the use of any Level Three aversives was done as a

         23  result of a court order and parental consent.

         24                 Now, I would say that to you one of

         25  the issues that we have and I'm certainly not want
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          2  to put everything on the state, but as long as the

          3  state keeps schools like the Judge Rotenberg Center

          4  on the approved list, they're available for parents.

          5                 If I look at an approved list, that,

          6  to me, is like the Good Housekeeping seal of

          7  approval.  If the state has a school on the list,

          8  you, we would expect that there was due diligence

          9  about is this school appropriate.  So, and I pointed

         10  out to you, although we found schools this year for

         11  three children who were in- school (sic), because

         12  that school is still on the state- approved list,

         13  parents went to an impartial hearing officer and

         14  said, I want to use this school.  It's still on the

         15  state list.  Can I go?  And, an impartial hearing

         16  officer said yes.  So, I think, at some point,

         17  there's got to be some recognition that the state

         18  has to do their job about monitoring the schools and

         19  taking them off the approved list.

         20                 We look, our policy has always been,

         21  and I think the numbers show you, that we look only

         22  for in- state residential programs first and only if

         23  they're exhausted do we look out of state.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But, don't

         25  you have a responsibility to the children of the
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          2  City of New York and to the parents that despite

          3  what's on the state list, if you have done your own

          4  due diligence and you have found a place like the

          5  Judge Rotenberg Center not to be or should not be on

          6  a state- approved list, that you would not consider

          7  it as part of your approved list?

          8                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, first of all,

          9  we don't get to have our own approved list.  As I

         10  explained to you, Council Member, we have an

         11  instance where we have not, we have not recommended

         12  Judge Rotenberg Center in the last six months

         13  because we have been able to find in- state schools

         14  that didn't exist before.  Since the passing of

         15  Billy's Law, the in- state schools have broadened

         16  their capacity to serve children who they previously

         17  were not able to serve.  But, despite that, there

         18  are three, I'm giving you the numbers, there are

         19  three children who went to a hearing.

         20                 Now, we, of course, went to the

         21  hearing and gave all the reasons why we thought the

         22  in- school (sic) state was the most, the appropriate

         23  placement and the hearing officer makes a binding

         24  decision and the parents prevailed.

         25                 As far as the parents that are there,
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          2  we have offered all the parents at this particular

          3  school an opportunity for a new placement.  They

          4  wanted to stay.  I don't want to, you know, I don't

          5  want this to be about any particular school  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Right.

          7                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  But I will say

          8  that, I just want to say one other thing.  We have

          9  annual, we do annual, we do annual IEPs for children

         10  and as children, hopefully, are able to become,

         11  progress, we return children to day programs.  We

         12  meet with the parents on a yearly basis.  So, I

         13  think we're very collaborative with parents.

         14                 I will tell you that there is a lot

         15  of parent choice about residential programs and we

         16  cannot unilaterally just say to a parent, we're

         17  removing your child.  There are pendency rights,

         18  under the law, that a parent has the right to have

         19  their child where they have been.  If the school is

         20  still operating, I can't say to 106 parents, you

         21  know what, I don't really like this school.  I think

         22  you should all leave.  The parents say, wait, I have

         23  the right  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  If it's a

         25  danger  --
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          2                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  To stay here.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  If we

          4  determine it to be a danger and the State Education

          5  Department determines it to be a danger, then there

          6  is a right to say, we're pulling out of a school.

          7                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  The State Education

          8  Department has the right to take, and the only

          9  authority, to close the, to take the school off the

         10  list.  Until they do, I just, you need, I'm not

         11  skirting the issue, but you have, we have, there are

         12  laws around this.  If a parent says  --  the law,

         13  the IDEA says that a child has pendency to their

         14  current placement during any disputes --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Right.

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  So, if we said to

         17  parents, we don't have the right to unilaterally

         18  tell parents we, we're pulling the child out of that

         19  school.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But, isn't

         21  it a fact that it's the localities that actually

         22  contract with these out- of state facilities?

         23                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  We have absolutely no

         24  contractual relationship for any out- of- state

         25  residentials.  As a matter of fact, we cannot
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          2  unilaterally place any child in a state- approved

          3  out- of- state residential program on an individual

          4  basis.  We have to take all the material that we

          5  have.  It goes up to the State Education Department

          6  by child, individual basis, and then they approve

          7  it.  We have no ability to unilaterally recommend a

          8  program, to send a child to a program  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But that's

         10  not what I'm asking.  If it's on the state list,

         11  approved list, it is up to the locality to contract

         12  with the out- of- state facility.  Is that correct?

         13                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Not, no, not in my,

         14  not in my knowledge and we have not had, we do not

         15  have any contracts with out- of- state residential

         16  programs.  We use it, we access it through the

         17  state.  We have no unilateral right to place any

         18  child in an out- of- state residential program

         19  without going through the state on a child- by-

         20  child basis.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Right and I

         22  think there might be some testimony to the contrary

         23  on that later and I'll leave it for that.  But, it's

         24  my understanding that it's localities that contract

         25  with out- of- state facilities based on the list

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  that's provided by the State Education Department.

          3  That's my understanding.  We'll just disagree on

          4  that point.

          5                 Did you say that some of these

          6  students have been sent out of state simply because

          7  there was a problem with the tuition rates of in-

          8  state schools that  --

          9                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  What I  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --  That the

         11  services were available for these children in-

         12  state, but the reason they were sent to out- of-

         13  state and created all that problem was because of

         14  tuition rates?

         15                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, first of all, I

         16  didn't, I think you're, that's not exactly what I

         17  said.  What I said, is since the passing of Billy's

         18  Law, the state has worked very diligently with the

         19  in- state facilities to broaden their ability to

         20  serve a larger range of children.  For some schools,

         21  it might have been tuition rate adjustments, for

         22  other schools, it could have been taking on hiring

         23  new staff or different trained staff, which may have

         24  led to that, led to tuition rate increases.

         25                 So, there's been a big push since
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          2  Billy's Law by the New York State Education

          3  Department to go to all their in state schools and

          4  say, look, here's a profile of children that you

          5  have been unable to serve.  What can we do for you,

          6  so that you're able to serve these children?  They

          7  have expanded their capacity, which has resulted in

          8  the New York City Department of Ed. Being able to

          9  access in- state schools.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Let me ask

         11  you about 396. We're not interested in individual

         12  information about individual students, but you agree

         13  with the Intro. That is on the table here today

         14  about reporting to the Council, on a periodic basis,

         15  as to the issues that we're talking about and any

         16  investigations that you have done or any reports

         17  that you have received about abuse and neglect that

         18  have happened at any of these institutions?

         19                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  We are willing to

         20  provide the Council will all, any information we

         21  have, as long as it's not student identifiable

         22  information  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  We're not

         24  asking for student identifiable information.

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  We will provide you
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          2  with whatever we have.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Okay.  Mr.

          4  Chairman, I will, I know we have some other

          5  questions, so I'll let it go at that and we'll

          6  continue.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You're welcome.

          8    I don't know if my other colleagues that have

          9  joined us have been introduced, but Simcha Felder

         10  from Brooklyn down there to my right and Andrew

         11  Lanza of Staten Island to my left here.  Council

         12  Member Lew Fidler.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Council

         14  Member Gentile covered most of what I had to ask,

         15  but I kind of want a yes or no answer as to the

         16  Intro. Before us.  Does the Department of Education

         17  support Intro. 396?

         18                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Sorry, I turned it

         19  off, not on. We don't take a position on the bill.

         20  What I said to Council Member Gentile is we will

         21  provide you with the information that we have.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I heard that.

         23    That was, you know, we're supposed to be the

         24  politicians giving those kind of answers.  You're

         25  supposed to, you know, be a little bit more direct.
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          2                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I've learned from

          3  being  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So  --

          5                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  You've taught me

          6  well.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, well, let

          8  me then, unfortunately, pursue that line, which is,

          9  is there anything in this Intro. That would require

         10  you to, you know, which requires reporting that you

         11  would not be able to comply with if we pass it?

         12                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  There's a lot of

         13  information here about enforcement actions against

         14  the facilities, certain investigations that are

         15  under the jurisdiction of the State Education

         16  Department that we do not have access to that

         17  information.

         18                 We would provide you with the

         19  information that we have access to.  So, if the

         20  State Education Department does an investigation and

         21  provides us with a copy of the report, we will

         22  certainly provide it to the Council.  But, a lot of

         23  the information that you're asking for is not under

         24  our jurisdiction. We don't have access to it.  We

         25  know the facilities.  We know the number of students
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          2  in each of these facilities on a yearly basis. We

          3  know any complaints that we have gotten that we pass

          4  on to the state.  But, there are things in here that

          5  we do not have access to.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  In all due

          7  respect, Ms. Wernikoff, if I put my hand over my

          8  eyes, I won't see you either. So, my question is,

          9  you know, if New York City DOE writes a letter to

         10  the State Education Department and says, please

         11  advise us, we have students in these four

         12  facilities, please advise us of this information

         13  about complaints and disciplinary actions and

         14  outcomes, they will not answer that letter for you?

         15                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I can't answer on

         16  behalf of the State Education Department.  What I

         17  will say, and I apologize for being repetitious, we

         18  are more than willing to provide the Council with

         19  any and all information that we have.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  But I'm

         21  asking if you'll go a step further and seek to

         22  obtain the information that hasn't been handed to

         23  you?

         24                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Certainly, I see no

         25  reason why we wouldn't seek to obtain it, but I
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          2  think the bill should say the New York City

          3  Department of Ed. Will seek to obtain from the State

          4  Education Department certain information which we

          5  don't have access to.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And I would

          7  commend to the sponsor that maybe that language

          8  directing that they be obligated to do that, be

          9  included in the Intro., together with direction that

         10  if State Education does not comply, that New York

         11  City Department of Education puts that in their

         12  report, that they asked on such and such a date and

         13  the State Education Department refused to tell us

         14  what institutions housing New York City children

         15  have had complaints filed against them and what the

         16  result was.  I think that, frankly, would be

         17  reprehensible on the part of the State Education

         18  Department not to answer that inquiry and basically

         19  tell us that we don't have a right to know that.  I

         20  think that's an appropriate thing that should be

         21  amended in this bill.

         22                 The other question that I have, and

         23  it goes back to the JRC.  I'm a little astonished, I

         24  mean, if I had a child in that Center and got that

         25  report, I'd be out in Massachusetts with a baseball

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  bat in my hand, demanding answers, a wooden, of

          3  course.

          4                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I know about the

          5  metal bats.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, I have to

          7  wonder about the 103 parents that said, no problem,

          8  keep my kid in JRC.  What is it about JRC that is so

          9  unique that a parent would want or willingly permit

         10  or negligently allow their child to remain in that

         11  institution?  Do they do, I mean, are their outcomes

         12  wonderful compared to other institutions?  This is

         13  the first I'm aware of this JRC.  I mean, it amazes

         14  me.

         15                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Let me respond in two

         16  ways and I'm not a behavioral psychologist.  But

         17  there are, there is two sides of the debate about

         18  the value or lack of value of aversive methodologies

         19  and I know that the State Education Department has

         20  had many pretty contentious, hot meetings when they

         21  had their regulations up for review about not

         22  prohibiting them going forward unless there's a

         23  child- specific waiver.

         24                 I will tell you, that there were

         25  hundreds of people, you know, parents who came up
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          2  and psychologists who said that aversive methodology

          3  was the only thing that worked for their child.  I,

          4  I am not, this is not my area of expertise, but I

          5  just wanted to say to you, you say, why? Because,

          6  for some parents, they believe that, and there's,

          7  believe that this is the only thing that has

          8  actually helped their child.

          9                 I think to the other point, that I

         10  think JRC has been a school that has worked with

         11  children who had not had any success in any other

         12  prior placement.  These are children who are

         13  extremely aggressive and extremely self- abusive and

         14  this is really more of a school of last resort for

         15  many of them because they had been in other

         16  facilities that were not able to help them at all.

         17  So, I really, that's the best answer I can give.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I understand

         19  that, you know, it's beyond your field and it's, you

         20  know, not always your call, but that's a very, very

         21  sad tale.  I just wonder, has any analysis been made

         22  by New York City DOE of the outcome?

         23                 I mean, it's a fine thing for someone

         24  to say, this is my opinion, you know, that this is

         25  the only way to go, aversive behavior is the only
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          2  thing that will keep my child from self- abusive

          3  behavior.  But, has anyone actually looked at it and

          4  objectively said, yes, JRC, it's working for some

          5  kids, it's not working for others?

          6                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, there's a

          7  couple of them. First of all, as I said before, we

          8  don't recommend aversives. This is where the parent

          9  and the facility went to a court and got it court-

         10  mandated.  It's not a recommendation that our

         11  Committee of Special Ed. Would ever make, because we

         12  don't make those kinds of recommendations.  I do

         13  believe, again, that the state has addressed that

         14  issue by saying, we're not going to allow it in any

         15  state facility without an individual child waiver.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  But the,

         17  first all, you know, going back to the child waivers

         18  and the court orders, that was an outcome of the

         19  investigation at JRC.

         20                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  No it was not.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, all of

         22  the behavior that we've heard about earlier in this

         23  Hearing was done pursuant to court order?

         24                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Any use of the Level

         25  Three aversives that were described, the parent had
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          2  to consent and go to court to get it court- mandated

          3  to be used.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And  --

          5                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  That  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  Is it not

          7  the case that they found that it was being used

          8  excessively beyond, you know, standard practice for

          9  even those who believe in aversive behavior?

         10                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  There's people who

         11  believe yes and people who believe no.  But, I do

         12  think the state has addressed that by saying, you

         13  know, what, we're not going to get into that. We're

         14  just not going to allow it unless there's an

         15  individual child- specific waiver.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, you

         17  know, I guess we all here and I think you probably

         18  share a little bit of the frustration of not having

         19  control over this, as City elected officials and the

         20  City Department of Education, that the state kind

         21  of, you know, turns a blind eye to this.  I'm not

         22  unsympathetic to your limitation and what you can

         23  do.

         24                 It is a shockingly a bad use of

         25  words, it is an extremely sad story that you tell.
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          2  I can't imagine, I really can't imagine how bad

          3  things would be for a parent to permit something

          4  like this and, because, what you're telling me is

          5  that there are 106 kids in JRC now and every one of

          6  them is there over New York City Department of

          7  Education's objection.

          8                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  No, that's not what I

          9  said.  There are 104 students there.  We have not

         10  placed any new children in JRC.  Children who are

         11  there, we've offered the parent the right to

         12  transfer and they have chosen and have the legal

         13  right to stay there because the school remains an

         14  approved state school.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, before,

         16  then maybe I misunderstood you, I thought you were

         17  saying that the kids who are being placed there now

         18  are all being placed there as a result of a hearing

         19  process  --

         20                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Some  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  Which you

         22  were opposing  --

         23                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Right, let me  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  JRC.

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  So, let me just say,
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          2  I gave you the numbers of kids who were there, that

          3  includes kids who have been there for two or three

          4  years, plus any new kids.  What I wanted to say to

          5  the Council is, we have not recommended JRC in the

          6  last six months for any children, but we have had

          7  three hearings where parents have gone and requested

          8  it and prevailed at a hearing.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, six

         10  months ago it became your policy to not recommend

         11  JRC, even though it's on the approved list.

         12                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Absolutely not.

         13  That's not what I said, what I said is  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Then you

         15  clarify.

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  That, what I said

         17  is that because of Billy's Law and because the

         18  state, in- state facilities have now broaden their

         19  ability to serve children they didn't or weren't

         20  able to serve previously, we have been able to

         21  access in state schools that never had the capacity

         22  to do it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And when did

         24  that circumstance change?

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, as I said to
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          2  you, the, since the passing of Billy's Law, each,

          3  which was in August of 2005, each year,

          4  subsequently, we've been able to decrease the

          5  numbers of kids in all out- of- state residentials,

          6  because the in- state residentials have really

          7  expanded their capacity.  But, I, you know, we

          8  always, our policy has always been to go to an in-

          9  state school first, but the capacity has now

         10  broadened since Billy's Law.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Can you see

         12  any context in which New York City Department of

         13  Education, at this point, would recommend to a

         14  parent that their child be placed in JRC?

         15                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I don't know that, I

         16  wouldn't say, I don't know.  There could be a

         17  possibility that this is the only school that's

         18  appropriate.  They cannot use aversives any more.

         19  Again, we don't unilaterally place a child there.  A

         20  parent would have availability to them to visit the

         21  school to know all of the previous information

         22  around it.  I never say never, because I don't know

         23  in every individual child.  But, as I said to you,

         24  we seek, for all children, and I, you know, the I

         25  know this Hearing is not really about JRC because
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          2  there are other out-of-state residentials.  So, we

          3  always, as a policy, go to in-state schools.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Last

          5  question, hypothetical, because I'm probing this

          6  limitation in your power and yet sense that because

          7  it is the policy of the New York City Department of

          8  Education not to use aversives, that this is not,

          9  you know, your preference, you know, as an

         10  institution.  If it were discovered that JRC was

         11  using aversives outside of the court order, what

         12  would the New York City Department of Education do?

         13                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Go right to the State

         14  Education Department, give them the evidence and

         15  request that they take immediate action.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And that

         17  would be your limitation?  You wouldn't advise the

         18  parents of it?  You wouldn't pull  --

         19                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Oh no  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  Pull New

         21  York City kids out of it?

         22                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I think we always

         23  advise the parent.  But, I think, the one thing that

         24  I'm trying to explain and I'm not trying to skirt

         25  the issue, is we don't have, and if I remember
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          2  correctly, you're a lawyer, if we don't have  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Sorry.

          4                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  No, I feel like I'm

          5  being deposed. No.  We don't have a legal right to

          6  unilaterally pull children out of an approved

          7  school.  The IDEA says that children have pendency

          8  to remain in their placement if that's where the

          9  parent chooses to taken them.  Believe them, even if

         10  we believe it's not the right school.

         11                 We have this with our own public

         12  schools.  A child may be in PS1 and we say, you know

         13  what, your child's needs are not being met there.

         14  We have a better school at PS2.  The parent says, no

         15  way, I don't want it.  They have pendency to stay in

         16  PS1.

         17                 The same thing extends to an out- of-

         18  state facility.  IDEA says that you have the right,

         19  it's called stay put, in your program if the parent

         20  disagrees.  So, we don't have any right to

         21  unilaterally take children out.  If the state, on

         22  the other hand, said, this is no longer an approved

         23  school, then we would have the right because if the

         24  school, when the IDEA says, if a school closes, then

         25  you have, obviously, no pendency, because it doesn't
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          2  exist anymore and then you place all the children.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you Mr.

          4  Chairman. I, you know, strongly recommend that we go

          5  back to some of the language in this bill as to some

          6  of the issues that we discussed and amend it and

          7  then pass it

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

          9  We've been joined by colleagues Jessica Lappin, who

         10  has stepped out of the room, from Manhattan, David

         11  Yassky from Brooklyn was here and Council Member

         12  Miguel Martinez is to my left.

         13                 Can you describe for us the process

         14  that the State Education follows in deciding whether

         15  a particular facility should be on the list of

         16  approved facilities?

         17                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  You know what, I

         18  really can't testify on behalf of what the State

         19  Education Department does.  I think that's more of a

         20  question that should be directed to the State

         21  Education Department.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, but, wait

         23  a minute, the New York City Department of Education

         24  spends $54 million a year for placement.  Are you,

         25  as the Senior Instructional Manager for Special

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Education, are you responsible for the

          3  implementation for the Department of Education of

          4  the placement of students in out- of- state

          5  facilities?

          6                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  We're responsible for

          7  making  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I'm not asking

          9  we, I'm asking you, as the Senior Instructional

         10  Manager, is that part of your jurisdiction?  I mean,

         11  you're here giving testimony on this subject area

         12  and I want to know, is that your area of

         13  responsibility?  The reason, let me tell you why I'm

         14  asking that question, because if you are, then you

         15  should know the process in which the State Education

         16  Department uses to place people in out of- state

         17  facilities.

         18                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  With all due respect,

         19  Chairman Jackson, you didn't ask, you asked me if I

         20  knew what the state does in order to determine if a

         21  school is on the approved list. If you're asking me,

         22  do I know the procedure for the state approving a

         23  particular child to go to an out- of- state, the

         24  answer is yes, and I did describe it in my

         25  testimony.  I, let, I'm, just apologize and let me
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          2  finish

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  No, go ahead.

          4                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  So, my job, as the

          5  Senior Instructional Manager, is to ensure that we

          6  provide a free and appropriate education for

          7  students with disabilities regardless of what type

          8  of environment they need, whether it's home

          9  instruction, hospital instruction or out- of- state

         10  residential.  I was  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  But shouldn't

         12  you know also that the process in which, that the

         13  State Education decides on, whether a particular

         14  facility should be or should not be on an approved

         15  list, so that you know, from a comprehensive point

         16  of view, as the person that's responsible in New

         17  York City, when New York is spending $54 million to

         18  place approximately 100 students in out- of- state

         19  facilities?  Shouldn't you know the process that

         20  they use in deciding whether or not?  I think you

         21  should.

         22                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, unfortunately,

         23  I think that I, it's not my job to know everybody

         24  else's job and there's some, there's an expectation

         25  that our State Education Department does their due
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          2  diligence with monitoring schools and reviewing

          3  schools and getting applications from schools before

          4  they put it on a list for the entire State of New

          5  York to access for out- of- state placements.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, if a parent

          7  came to you and discussing as a head person in New

          8  York City Department of Education, so you're

          9  responsible for monitoring and overseeing this

         10  program, and they come to you and say, well, how

         11  does the state decide on whether or not a facility

         12  is approved or not approved and whether it goes on

         13  the list?  I'm sorry, I can't answer that.  You've

         14  got to go to the State Education Department, that's

         15  your response.  That's what I'm hearing from you.

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  First of all, that's

         17  not, first of all, I speak to hundreds of parents

         18  and no, that's not how I would respond  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, then tell

         20  me  --

         21                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  What I would  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Respond to,

         23  excuse me, one second please, one second, I'll give

         24  you an opportunity to respond.  Act like I'm a

         25  parent of a child that's ready to have my son or
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          2  daughter placed and I ask you that question.  I'm

          3  listening for your response in that scenario.

          4                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I would say that the

          5  State Education Department gets applications from

          6  schools, they review the educational program, they

          7  review the facility of the school, they review the

          8  kinds of, the services they are going to provide.

          9  When schools apply to the State Education Department

         10  to be an approved school, it also, they do apply and

         11  give you a profile of the student that they serve.

         12                 So, for example, not every in- state

         13  or out- of state residential has the same profile of

         14  children they serve. So, there may be an out- of-

         15  state, for example, the Wood School in New Jersey is

         16  an out- of- state residential.  They serve,

         17  basically multiply disabled, very severely

         18  cognitively impaired students. So, on their

         19  application, they would talk about the profile of

         20  children, the age range of the children, the kinds

         21  of services and teachers and providers that they

         22  would have available and the facility that they look

         23  at.  And then, I'm sure the state looks at their

         24  tuition rate and then puts them on the approved

         25  list.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  That's what

          3  your response would be?

          4                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  But, you

          6  could not describe the process that the State

          7  Education Department used in deciding whether a

          8  particular facility should or should not be on the

          9  list of approved facilities?

         10                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  No, I could not.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  If that

         12  question, specifically, was asked, you would

         13  basically, like you responded to me, you would refer

         14  that parent to the State Education Department to get

         15  that question answered?  Is that correct?

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Or, maybe as the

         17  alternate, usually on the state's website, they have

         18  a lot of information. I might go on the website for

         19  the parent and pull off whatever information the

         20  state has publicly about how they review

         21  applications for schools.  Many times, on the state

         22  website, they have information about how they will

         23  review school's applications for both in- state and

         24  out- of- state schools.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do you, as a,
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          2  let me go back, as far as in your capacity as a

          3  Senior Instructional Manager for Special Education,

          4  the item we're discussing here, is that under your

          5  jurisdiction as far as the placement, out- of state

          6  placement of students from New York City into out-

          7  of- state facilities?

          8                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Yes it is.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, I just

         10  want to be clear.  I mean, it's, the decision was

         11  made for you to come and give testimony regarding

         12  that and I just wanted to be sure that was under

         13  your jurisdiction.

         14                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Yes it is.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Do you

         16  give State Education Department any input in terms

         17  of which facilities should or should not be approved

         18  or regarding any approved facilities that should be

         19  taken off the list?

         20                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  We provide, we

         21  provide through, the State Education Department

         22  doesn't necessarily come to us to ask us who should

         23  be on and off their list.  But, if we, any

         24  information that we gather or any complaints that we

         25  get are immediately provided to the State Education
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          2  Department to investigate immediately and,

          3  hopefully, they would take into account any

          4  complaints we, the DOE, received in any subsequent

          5  renewal of the school to be on, remain on the list.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  What about

          7  outside of, assuming you didn't receive any

          8  complaints and if you felt that changes should be

          9  made or if you have any suggestions, do you do that

         10  on a regular basis or does someone else do that or

         11  what?

         12                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, as I explained

         13  to Council Members before, for children who are in

         14  out- of- state residential placements, we do annual

         15  Individual Education Program meetings. During the

         16  course of that meeting, if one of the local

         17  committees on special education find that there are

         18  issue at a school, they would let me know and I

         19  would certainly let the State Education Department

         20  know, so, again, they would include any of that

         21  thinking or issues when these schools come up for

         22  renewal to be on the state approved list.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Have you ever

         24  suggested to the State Education Department that a

         25  facility should be taken off the list?
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          2                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I can think of one.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, which one

          4  was that?

          5                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I will not, I will

          6  not give you that name.  That's, to me, protected

          7  information and  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, that, I

          9  beg to differ. A facility that has been recommended

         10  be taken off the list, you can consult with counsel

         11   --

         12                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I am, that's why

         13  she's  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  It's not

         15  identifying  --

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  Sitting next to

         17  me.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Information

         19  concerning a client or a student and that, in my

         20  opinion, and I'm not an attorney, even though we

         21  have many  --

         22                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  We share that  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Attorneys

         24  on the list -

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  We share that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  As far as

          3  that's carrying out your responsibility as an

          4  official of the Department of Education based on

          5  information knowledge and belief as a, under this

          6  law, that you feel you should not be on.

          7                 To say that you feel that that's

          8  confidential.  I want you to explain to me what is

          9  confidential about the fact that the New York City

         10  Department of Education has recommended to the State

         11  Education Department a facility be taken off the

         12  list based on information and knowledge and belief

         13  that you have that formed that opinion that they

         14  should be taken off the list.  So, you want to take

         15  second to consult with counsel and then  --

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I will.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Respond,

         18  you know, I'm going to afford you that opportunity.

         19                 MS. O'NEIL:  Hello.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Hello?

         21                 MS. O'NEIL:  Hi.  I'm Marykate

         22  O'Neil.  I'm the Director of the Special Education

         23  Unit for the Office of Legal Services.  I would just

         24  say is, we could get back to you with that

         25  information, because we're not prepared to give you
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          2  that information today, because we do believe it's

          3  confidential.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

          5  Marykate, as counsel, I believe you're counsel for

          6  the Special Education Committee, did you say?

          7                 MS. O'NEIL:  Special Education Unit

          8  for Legal, yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  In your opinion

         10  or the New York City Department of Education's

         11  opinion, why do you feel that the information

         12  relating to a facility as far as that you have

         13  recommended to be taken off the list, is

         14  confidential when none of the information that I'm

         15  asking, by the name of it, has to do anything with

         16  any of, specifically regarding a student identifying

         17  information?  Why do you feel it's confidential?

         18                 MS. O'NEIL:  What I can say is that I

         19  would need additional information and have to do

         20  more investigation as to the context of the

         21  conversations and how they took place.  From what I

         22  know, from all of three minutes of analysis, is that

         23  the context that they took place were in

         24  confidential.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I'm not asking
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          2  for the context and details of the conversations

          3  and/or information.  I'm only asking for the

          4  facility in which you recommended to be taken off

          5  the list.  That's a difference.

          6                 MS. O'NEIL:  I can get back to you

          7  with that answer.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

          9                 MS. O'NEIL:  I'm not prepared to give

         10  you that information.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  We appreciate

         12  that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Mr. Chairman,

         14  point of order, how does a Committee vote to

         15  subpoena a piece of information?  Do you know?

         16  Because  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  Frankly,

         19  I, you know, we have a couple of lawyers here that

         20  can't fathom this confidentiality issue.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, I can't

         22  fathom it either.  But, I think that we will, I will

         23  wait to hear a response from them to our Counsel of

         24  the Education Committee, who is sitting to my left.

         25  If the response is not favorable, then we will then
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          2  pursue that, the course of action.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You're welcome.

          5    Can you please tell me and other Committee Members

          6  that are present here, based on your knowledge, what

          7  exactly the State Education Department does to

          8  monitor out- of- state facilities that house New

          9  York State children, more specifically, the children

         10  of New York City?

         11                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Again, I really am

         12  not prepared to testify on behalf of what the State

         13  Education Department does or does not do.  I think

         14  it's unfair for me to testify on behalf of the State

         15  Education Department.

         16                 But, what I will tell you is the best

         17  of my knowledge and then I think if you want more

         18  information, we can certainly get back to you.  But,

         19  I, the State Education Department looks at their

         20  financial records.  They have the ability to send

         21  out what they call state representatives or

         22  liaisons, same way they will send state liaisons

         23  into public schools, they can send them into and do

         24  send them into non- public schools, who actually do

         25  observations and look at things like, do they have
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          2  certified staff, are they meeting the IEPs and

          3  providing the mandated services and things of that

          4  nature.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do you know how

          6  often State Education Department visits out- of-

          7  state facilities?

          8                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  No, I do not.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  No, I'm not

         10  trying to solicit an answer from anyone except from

         11  the State Education Department.  The City  --

         12  excuse me sir.  The reason why I ask that question

         13  is because as the manager, I would think that you

         14  would know that.  I mean, because, again, if you

         15  were sitting down with a parent and a parent asked

         16  that question, basically they couldn't get an answer

         17  from you because you don't have the knowledge base.

         18                 It's my opinion that, as a person

         19  that oversees this, that you or a staff member that

         20  works under you would have that knowledge on how

         21  often does the State Education Department monitor,

         22  send out investigators or monitors to the out- of-

         23  state facilities.  I say that because the question

         24  then comes, you've got to beg the question, how are

         25  you then overseeing the spending of $54 million of
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          2  the City's money?

          3                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, with all due

          4  respect, you asked me if I knew.  And, I said to

          5  you, I gave you my best answer and we do have a

          6  director who does this under me.  But, I also think

          7  that I came here to testify on behalf of what the

          8  New York City Department of Education does and not

          9  the issues related to how the New York State

         10  Department of Education manages the out- of- state

         11  facilities.

         12                 I think there's got to be a clear

         13  understanding here that New York City, like every

         14  other local school district in New York State,

         15  cannot unilaterally place any child in any out- of-

         16  state residential without the state approving that

         17  school and being on the list.  What we do  --

         18  excuse me, I'd like to respond, finish my answer  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I haven't

         20  interrupted you.

         21                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  And then what I

         22  want to do, you like you were getting ready to  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  No, I was just

         24   --

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Sorry.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  I was just

          3  adjusting my mic, that's all.

          4                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  And that it is also a

          5  very collaborative process with parents.  We don't

          6  unilaterally place any child in an out- of- state or

          7  in- state residential without a lot of work with the

          8  parents.  Many parents talk to other parents of

          9  children there, they visit, they continue to visit

         10  while the child is in that residential.  We work

         11  very hard, as children progress, to bring them back.

         12                 I can certainly, you want to give me

         13  a list of questions for us to go back and we'll

         14  certainly provide you with any information you want

         15  to know about how the New York State Department of

         16  Education monitors their list.  But, after 34 years

         17  of being in the Department of Special Education and

         18  as the head of the Special Education, I am probably

         19  one of the most dedicated advocates for children

         20  with disabilities and any suggestion that we don't

         21  know or are, you know, not trying to work with

         22  parents to give them the most information, I really

         23  take objection to.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Ms. Wernikoff,

         25  no one has suggested and I have not suggested that
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          2  you are not working very hard and that you are not

          3  working with the parents.  No one has suggested

          4  that.  I have not suggested that in any of my

          5  questions.

          6                 My questions to you as the head, as

          7  the Senior Instructional Manager, as far as your

          8  knowledge of State Education Department rules and

          9  regulations regarding out- of- state placements and

         10  about the State Ed. Monitoring it and your responses

         11  to that is clearly, are appropriate questions for me

         12  to ask since you oversee the program, in order to

         13  know what they're doing, how they're doing it and

         14  how they're overseeing it. Because you are, meaning

         15  the New York City Department of Education, are

         16  sending up applications, they're sending up

         17  applications to the State Education Department that

         18  parents either want or you or someone else have

         19  recommended out- of- state facilities.

         20                 So, no one is questioning your

         21  integrity and your honesty as far as that.  So, if

         22  you feel that we're questioning your integrity and

         23  honesty, please, I am not questioning that at all.

         24  I'm only questioning your knowledge or your lack

         25  thereof of State Education Department policies and
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          2  procedures and monitoring and oversight, which, in

          3  my opinion, I believe that you should have knowledge

          4  of because we're spending a lot of money to ensure

          5  that clients, children are being placed there.  So,

          6  don't  --

          7                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, I think I  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Feel

          9  offended by the fact that I'm  --

         10                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Not trying

         12  to question your integrity or honesty, okay?

         13                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Thank you, but I do

         14  believe I answered your question.  I also believe if

         15  there's additional information that perhaps you want

         16  to direct some of these questions to the New York

         17  State Education Department  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         19                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  And  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  But, let me ask

         21  then of you specifically.  I know that you said and

         22  I said to you earlier, I apologized, I had to go

         23  over and vote.  So, I have your written testimony

         24  here.  You mentioned the fact that you do not,

         25  meaning the City's Department of Education, do not
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          2  contract out with out of- state facilities.  That's

          3  all done by the State Education Department in

          4  determining what facilities go on the approved list

          5  and that you do not contract out with any

          6  facilities.

          7                 So, the application, does the City

          8  Department of Education sign a contract that they

          9  will pay x amount of dollars to this facility?  Or,

         10  this, you just file an application and that in

         11  itself is a contract between the parent and the

         12  student and the City's Department of Education with

         13  the out- of- state facility?

         14                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  When we send up a

         15  particular child to, for the state to consider for

         16  an out- of- state placement, upon their approval,

         17  there's something called a stack form.  Don't,

         18  there's, and that is for payment and those are

         19  approved by the state on an individual basis.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, is that,

         21  for example, you say that's approved on an

         22  individual basis.

         23                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Student- by- student

         24  basis.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, it's a
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          2  student- by student contract for services.  Is that

          3  correct?

          4                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  With the state, yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay and

          6  someone down at the Department of Education has to

          7  approve that individual contract for payment of

          8  services and to approve that IEP, the Individual

          9  Educational Plan, for each student?

         10                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  The way it works with

         11  the IEP team, let me, not to, I'll try to be brief.

         12  The IEPT meets  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  What's the

         14  acronym IEPT stand for?

         15                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Oh, I'm sorry,

         16  Individualized Education Program meeting takes place

         17  with the parent and all the members, maybe the

         18  school psychologist, teachers.  The first step is,

         19  as I said, they say that this child, that they

         20  believe that this student has needs that would be

         21  better addressed in a residential setting because

         22  they need this continuous 24- hour support and  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, the IEPT is

         24  the Individual Education  --

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Program  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Program.

          3                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Meeting.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Meeting?

          5                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

          7                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  IEPT meeting.  Sorry

          8  for the acronyms.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         10                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Then, what they do is

         11  the teams then would send the case down to the

         12  Central Based Support Team, which is a centrally

         13  administered office.  We help to locate placements

         14  for children who need other than a public school.

         15                 Our policy is, as I said before, to

         16  look for all in- state schools.  But, let's say, for

         17  argument sake, there was no in- state school the

         18  parent visited and there was an out- of state

         19  residential program that the parent and the school

         20  believed would best meet the needs of this child.

         21  We then take all that information, we still can't

         22  recommend a program, we send it up to the State

         23  Education Department.  They review it.  They review

         24  all the documentation of all the in- state places

         25  that were accessed. Then it comes back to us with an
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          2  approval.

          3                 Once the state has approved that that

          4  placement, then the IEP team, that individualized

          5  IEP meeting team, together, meet again, reconvene

          6  and they then put the name of that school, that out-

          7  of- state facility on the IEP and a stack form

          8  approving payment for the state is then sent up.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, I'm sorry,

         10  and thank you for the explanation.  But, so there's

         11  no individualized contract then between the

         12  Department of Education and the out- of- state

         13  facility?  Is that correct?

         14                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  There's

         16  an application that's sent up to the State Ed.

         17  Department, but there is an individual education

         18  treatment program team planned that's approved by

         19  various parties and signed off and there's a voucher

         20  that the City Department of Education has to pay for

         21  the services, that someone, in some capacity,

         22  approves.  Those are the two approving documents

         23  other than just the application itself, is that

         24  correct?

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Right.  There's a
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          2  form that goes to the state about payment and the

          3  state pays for the tuition.  I think it's a pure

          4  reimbursement to the  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

          6                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  City for the

          7  cost.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Going back to

          9  the questions when I asked about, you know,

         10  monitoring of out- of- state facilities and how many

         11  times State Ed. Does it.  Let me just ask you, does

         12  the City Department of Education itself go out to

         13  these facilities to monitor the facilities with

         14  respect to the New York City students?  More

         15  specifically, at the Judge Rotenberg Center, we have

         16  approximately 80 percent, New York City Department

         17  of Education has approximately 80 percent of the

         18  students at that facility.  Do we, do you or anyone

         19  else at the City Department of Education go there

         20  yourself as far as announced visits or unannounced

         21  visits?

         22                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I'm going to answer

         23  that in two ways.  The New York City Department of

         24  Education has no jurisdiction to walk into any out-

         25  of- state residential placement and monitor them and
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          2  ask them to show us their records, show us their

          3  books.  However, the New York City Department of

          4  Education reviews the progress of individual

          5  children.  We go to Judge Rotenberg Center for

          6  individual children.  They have human rights

          7  committees.  They have people from New York City

          8  when it's about a particular child attend.  But, we

          9  have no jurisdiction to go in and monitor any of

         10  these out- of- state residentials.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, now you

         12  said that you go up there.

         13                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Staff go up there,

         14  go, can go to any out- of- state facility in order

         15  to observe an individual New York City child as

         16  preparation for their next annual meeting. Sometimes

         17  there are, as you mentioned, Judge Rotenberg Center,

         18  they have, they call them human rights meetings,

         19  meetings where they discuss individual children.

         20  They notify the local committee on special ed. And

         21  we do send representation.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, other than

         23  the individual meetings, is there, what about a

         24  walk- through of facilities as far as oversight?

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  We have no
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          2  jurisdiction, they'd probably throw me out.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Well,

          4  have you asked the State Education Department, as

          5  your parent, and I'm going to call it that, it seems

          6  as though that  --

          7                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Everything

          9  goes through the State Education Department, since

         10  you have 80 percent of the students from New York

         11  City attending that.  If they were not attending,

         12  there would be only 20 percent of students at that

         13  facility.  Have you ever asked the State Education

         14  Department, I want to go on a site visit when the

         15  monitors from the State Education Department go, in

         16  order to see the facility and to see how our

         17  children are doing?  Has that every taken place?

         18                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I'm, there are people

         19  from the Central Based Support Team that do visit

         20  the facilities, not in a monitoring, I don't know if

         21  they've ever been co- joined by the State Education

         22  Department.  But, we do visit the facilities, so

         23  that we learn about them, but not in a monitoring

         24  way.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  On an
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          2  individual basis, though, that's what you said.

          3                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Individual basis or

          4  just to understand what the program is about.  But,

          5  not to say, please show me your financial records,

          6  please show me all the license of your staff,

          7  they're not  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  But what about

          9  the site visit to look at, to actually look with

         10  your eyes as to see, you know  --

         11                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  What's

         13  going on with the clients, the  --

         14                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  The

         16  students  --

         17                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Staff from the

         18  Central  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Let me just

         20  finish.

         21                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  -- Based Support Team

         22    --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Let me finish,

         24  if  --

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Oh, I'm sorry.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  You don't

          3  mind.  To go up there to actually walk through the

          4  facility to look at the sanitary conditions, to look

          5  at the educational facilities there, to look at the

          6  students and how they're being treated?

          7                 I mean, because one thing is what,

          8  people will tell you one thing and it may be only

          9  telling you what you want to hear.  But, you and I

         10  know that hearing one thing and seeing another is

         11  totally two different things, you know.  It's one

         12  thing that, you know, by actually visiting it that

         13  people cannot describe certain conditions that

         14  exist.

         15                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  We have, staff in the

         16  Central Based Support Team have visited.  They're

         17  not, they're not going in there to monitor though

         18  and ask to see records because we do not have

         19  jurisdiction to that.  We go there, interview

         20  individual children and we can walk through the

         21  facility and see individual children.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  We've been

         23  joined by colleagues.  We're joined by Jim Vacca of

         24  the Bronx, Melinda Katz of Queens, Maria del Carmen

         25  Arroyo of the Bronx to my left and Dan Garodnick to
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          2  my left, to my right and to my left.

          3                 Linda, let me just ask a couple of

          4  more questions, if you don't mind.  Can you tell us

          5  how many reports of abuse and/or neglect did you

          6  receive concerning students in out- of state

          7  residential facilities in the last school year?

          8                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  To the best of my

          9  recollection, none.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  You say,

         11  to the best of your recollection, can you double-

         12  check and get back to  --

         13                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Absolutely.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Our Counsel

         15  on that, please.

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Absolutely.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  It was

         18  reported in the Boston Globe newspaper that as of

         19  last June, there were 22 allegations of abuse, 12 of

         20  those allegations involving injuries that came out

         21  of the JRC since January of this year.  Did any of

         22  these reports involve New York City students?  And,

         23  if so, did you receive notice of these reports?

         24                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I have not, I don't

         25  know that they involve any New York City students
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          2  and no, I could tell you, I have not received

          3  reports.  But, I can certainly get back to Council

          4  Member and find out if, what's you're referring to,

          5  if any of them were New York City children.  But, we

          6  have not. Typically, the state will provide us

          7  information if it concerns New York City children.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Did you

          9  or anyone else on your staff read the Boston Globe

         10  report on these allegations?

         11                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I, I believe, not, I

         12  don't always read the Boston Globe, but I  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I don't either.

         14                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  Believe, I do

         15  believe the Boston Globe article was actually

         16  provided the information that the State Education

         17  Department of New York had found.  I believe, if I

         18  remember reading that article, what they did is they

         19  took the State Education Department's monitoring

         20  visit in whole and printed it in the report.  So, I

         21  don't think it was before that. I think it, the

         22  reporting was, everything in there, was the report

         23  that was done by New York State and they just kind

         24  of copied it and put it all down.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Where do you
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          2  get your knowledge and/or belief from to make that

          3  conclusion?

          4                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I'll tell, because,

          5  I'll tell you why.  When we were, I wanted to get a

          6  full copy of the report from the State Education

          7  Department and somebody said, go on the Boston Globe

          8  website, they have the whole article where they put

          9  the entire monitoring report.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Were you aware

         11  of the Boston Globe report prior to, well, as if I

         12  was giving it to you as an attorney, withdrawn.  How

         13  did you gain information about the Boston Globe

         14  report?  Did the State Education Department notify

         15  you or did you find out from another source?

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  The State Education

         17  Department provided us with a full copy of the

         18  report.  But, I do see, I just, I remember somebody

         19  telling me, and I can't tell you who said it, if you

         20  want the whole report, the Boston Globe actually

         21  printed the entire report.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  In the State

         23  Education Department's report, did it indicate any

         24  of these allegations were of New York City students?

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I do not believe that
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          2  the report had any student identifiable information,

          3  because I'm sure they can't release it under FERPA.

          4  The report is general.  It doesn't mention

          5  individual student names.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, okay, but

          7  as the City Department of Education, you mean the

          8  State Education Department, if there's allegations,

          9  cannot tell you, meaning the City's Department of

         10  Education, whether or not these allegations are

         11  against specific students and they cannot give you

         12  their names? Is that what you're telling me?

         13                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  No, that's not what I

         14  said, I said --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I'm sorry.

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  You asked me if

         17  they were in the report and I remember from reading

         18  the report, because that report is a public report,

         19  it redacts any  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Sure.

         21                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  Student

         22  identifiable information.  I don't, I have to tell

         23  you, I don't remember seeing any individual

         24  information from the State Education Department that

         25  any of the allegations were directed for New York
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          2  City students, but I will get back to you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, if you were

          4  to receive notice of a report or allegation of abuse

          5  or neglect from an out of- state residential

          6  facility, besides informing the State Ed. Department

          7  and the parents of the child, do you keep records of

          8  these reports?

          9                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  If we receive any

         10  report?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Yes.

         12                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Absolutely.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You do keep

         14  records of that?

         15                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Absolutely.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And do report

         17  that out, who do report the statistics or keeping

         18  these records to, if anyone? If anyone.

         19                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, I would just

         20  say I don't, I don't recall receiving any, but  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         22                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  What I would do

         23  is, the records that we keep, we would keep,

         24  obviously, we keep records of what we send to the

         25  State Education Department if there was anything and
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          2  we keep records.  I think that the Council is saying

          3  in their bill, could we provide this information,

          4  and what we did say is that whatever information we

          5  have and whatever information we request from the

          6  state and they provide, we were more than willing to

          7  share with the Council, as long as there wasn't

          8  student identifiable information in there.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Right.  So, let

         10  me just broaden the scope, if you don't mind.

         11                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Sure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Within the past

         13  several years, let's assume, past four years, has

         14  there been any reports of abuse or allegation that

         15  you, in your capacity, or someone else in that

         16  capacity, keeps statistics on to report to your

         17  oversight bodies?  So, for example, the City Council

         18  Education Committee has oversight of the Department

         19  of Education.  So, within the past four years, to

         20  your knowledge, do you have any reports of abuse or

         21  allegations that you statistically have reported to

         22  anyone?

         23                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I don't believe, I

         24  don't know that we received any reports of abuse or

         25  whatever, so the answer to that would be I don't
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          2  think, I don't know that there was anything to

          3  report out to about.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  So, then

          5  based on that, and I'm sure you're going to have

          6  your staff double- check on that  --

          7                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Sure.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  But, based

          9  on what I'm hearing you saying is that basically

         10  there's been no allegations of report of abuse or

         11  assault on students within the past four years  --

         12                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  What I  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  That's been

         14  reported to you, that you would have to keep  --

         15                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  That I'm aware of.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Statistic

         17  of

         18                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  That's exactly what I

         19  said.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Let me

         21  turn to my colleagues.  I apologize I had to go

         22  through a series of questions.  My colleague, Oliver

         23  Koppell from the Bronx.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you.

         25  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Let me just preface this,
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          2  it sent a bit of a shiver down my spine to hear your

          3  confidence in the State Department, because some of

          4  us are old enough to remember Willowbrook and to

          5  remember that relying on state, and I say this with,

          6  you know, admitting that I was part of, at least the

          7  legislative part of state government for many years,

          8  but I don't think we can rely on the state

          9  necessarily, unfortunately.  I wish I could share

         10  your confidence.  I do not.

         11                 The cost of educating these kids in

         12  the out- of state facility, who pays that cost?

         13                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  The State Education

         14  Department. There's a reimbursement and I, I'm, I

         15  can get back to you the exact amount, but I believe

         16  it's, almost 100 percent of the cost is from the

         17  State Education Department.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  You mean the

         19  City doesn't pay any share of that cost?

         20                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  What I said is I

         21  believe that there's a very small percentage, but I

         22  could absolutely get back to the Council with the

         23  exact tuition rate and how much, if it's 89 or 95

         24  percent that's reimbursed by the state.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  That is
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          2  interesting and I'm a little skeptical of that,

          3  based on my knowledge of the way education expenses

          4  tend to be allocated in this state.  But, maybe

          5  you're right, I would like to hear back.

          6                 It seems to me even if we don't pay a

          7  large share, these are children who come from our

          8  families, they're our children, if you will.  I take

          9  it that you don't feel that the New York City

         10  Department of Education has any responsibility to do

         11  overall monitoring of the conduct of the programs at

         12  these facilities, you rely entirely on the state?

         13                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, I don't, I

         14  think that's not exactly what I said.  What I did

         15  say to you is that we look at children on an

         16  individual basis, we review them annually, we, and

         17  look at their progress.  But, when you get to the

         18  overall monitoring, I think there's got to be,

         19  there's a, there's got, well, whether we have

         20  confidence or rely on, I think it's important that

         21  public agencies, whether they be the Department of

         22  Education or the State Education Department, have a

         23  responsibility to withhold the part that's under

         24  their authority.

         25                 So, the State Education Department
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          2  has the authority and is the sole authority to

          3  either allow children in New York State to attend a

          4  school or not.  Just, let me tell you what the issue

          5  would be.  So, I go in  --  I'm doing a hypothetical

          6    --  I go in and I look at a facility and I decide

          7  or a team of people decide, you know what, we don't

          8  like this school.  Guess what, any parent can still

          9  say, I want that school because you, New York City

         10  Department of Education, do not have a right to

         11  limit our ability to access an in- state, any, any

         12  school that's on the state list.  Then, all you do

         13  is get into adversarial due process hearings.

         14                 So, I think that the issue has to be

         15  that we all have to uphold the part of the job

         16  that's ours and the State Education Department holds

         17  the job of doing due diligence about which schools

         18  are on their list and which schools are not.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, I

         20  would only say this, Mr. Chairman, and say to you,

         21  that that's not the way our schools work in New York

         22  City, all of our public schools.  We have a State

         23  Education Department and they do inspect our schools

         24  and they come and they make recommendations and they

         25  have certain jurisdiction.  But, you, by you, I mean
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          2  the New York City Department of Education, also

          3  reviews those schools.  In fact, reviews them more

          4  fully, more comprehensively than the state and

          5  that's because they're our schools.

          6                 Well, I don't think it should be any

          7  different because the school happens to be located

          8  across the border and it's the only appropriate

          9  place to place a New York City student. So, I don't

         10  accept your answer.  I understand the reason for it,

         11  but I don't accept it.

         12                 What I would recommend, Mr. Chairman,

         13  and my colleague, Mr. Gentile, is that the

         14  amendment, the proposed bill or Introduction be

         15  amended to require that the New York City Department

         16  of Education independently monitor those schools for

         17  which we are paying in part and to which New York

         18  City students are sent.  Independently monitor those

         19  schools and if it requires consent of the state, to

         20  seek that consent.

         21                 But I'm not satisfied, quite

         22  honestly, as a New York City legislator, to say I'm

         23  going to rely on the state. Because, first of all,

         24  the state was not reliable in the past, as evidenced

         25  by the recent history.  We're not talking about
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          2  ancient history here, we're talking about a year

          3  ago.  They're not reliable and it's our tax payer

          4  money that's being spent.

          5                 I'm not going to rely on New York

          6  State for a host of reasons and we don't rely on New

          7  York State.  We could say the same thing for every

          8  public school in New York City, paid for in

          9  significant measure by the state.  They pay whatever

         10  it is, 48 percent of the cost.  We could say, let

         11  the State Department of Education monitor.  We don't

         12  say that.  We monitor ourselves.

         13                 So, that's my recommendation, Mr.

         14  Chairman, Mr. Gentile, that this bill be amended,

         15  because I don't think it's strong enough to protect

         16  the students I want to protect in the City of New

         17  York.

         18                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Could I just add one

         19  thing to that?  The difference is that when it comes

         20  to public schools, we unilaterally place children in

         21  public schools.  We don't need the state's

         22  permission for every child to go to every school.

         23  When it's an out- of- state facility, New York City

         24  Department of Education cannot unilaterally place

         25  any child in any non- public school.  It's done on a
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          2  case- by- case basis with the State Education

          3  Department.  So, the relationship between the public

          4  school system and going to an out- of- state

          5  facility on a case- by case basis is very different.

          6    That's all I wanted to say.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

          8  Council Member Gentile.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you

         10  again Mr. Chairman.  You know, I sit here

         11  increasingly frustrated, so I want to follow- up on

         12  what Councilman Fidler was asking you.  I'm

         13  frustrated by this attitude of our hands are tied.

         14  I think that's what Councilman Koppell was getting

         15  at also, that our hands are tied.  That's what I'm

         16  hearing over and over again from your testimony.

         17  Councilman Koppell is right.  Any City agency can

         18  make the same claim if there's a corresponding state

         19  agency involved.

         20                 Did you say to Councilman Fidler that

         21  if there was a report of abuse or neglect at a out-

         22  of- state facility that went to the State Ed., you

         23  may not know about it?  Is that, did you say that to

         24  Councilman, did you say, well, if they tell us, if

         25  they tell us, we'll report it to you, but, you know,
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          2  it's que, sera, sera, you know.

          3                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, that's not,

          4  that's probably a real mischaracterization of what I

          5     --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But  --

          7                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  Said.  But,

          8  excuse me.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Go ahead,

         10  answer.

         11                 MS. WERNIKOFF:   You made a

         12  characterization, I'd like to respond.  First of

         13  all, I keep trying to say, we look at kids

         14  individually and what Council Member Fidler said

         15  was, can you provide this information and what we

         16  said is that we will provide to the Council, and I

         17  opened this way, with any and all information we

         18  have.  But, I said, if we don't have the information

         19  and I think Councilman asked me would we go to the

         20  State Education Department to get it, I said

         21  absolutely.

         22                 I think the recommendation was that

         23  the bill should be amended to specifically say that

         24  the Department will seek information from the State

         25  Ed. Department because we don't have the information

                                                            88

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  because the, for some of these areas, like

          3  enforcement actions, because these state, the state,

          4  out- of- state facilities are required to provide

          5  this to the State Ed. Department, not to the

          6  Department of Education.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So, are you

          8  saying to us if there is a report about a New York

          9  City student that goes to the State Education

         10  Department, you may or may not find out about it?

         11                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I would specifically

         12  hope that the State Education Department shares with

         13  us.  I have no knowledge to think otherwise.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So, you're,

         15  you  --

         16                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  But it wasn't about

         17  an individual child.  It was about the list of

         18  things that the bill asked for, enforcement actions

         19  and a lot of other things  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Yes, it also

         21  asked for any report of abuse or neglect at a

         22  facility regarding a New York City Department of

         23  Education placement.

         24                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  And we, and as I

         25  said, we're more than willing to provide any
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          2  information we have, as long as it's not

          3  identifiable information  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But that's

          5  not my point. My point is  --

          6                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Then I'm sorry I'm

          7  missing your point.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --  Don't

          9  you feel it's your responsibility if there is a

         10  report of abuse or neglect on a New York City

         11  student, that you, it's your responsibility to know

         12  about it?

         13                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Absolutely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Whether it

         15  goes to the New York State Department of Ed. Or not,

         16  it's your responsibility to know about it and not

         17  sit here and say, well, if we hear about it, of

         18  course.  But, if we don't hear about, what can we do

         19  about it.

         20                 MS. O'NEIL:  I believe Ms. Wernikoff

         21  said yes, she would get back to you and that, yes,

         22  she would know about it and would get back to you

         23  with any information.  She actually said that she

         24  would go back for a year and would go back for four

         25  years and give you all information.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Yes, but I'm

          3  not asking about the past.  I'm asking also about

          4  the future.  I'm asking about if there is a report

          5  from the state, that goes to the, you say it goes to

          6  the State Education Department, I accept that.  It

          7  goes to the State Education Department.  But, isn't

          8  your responsibility to know from the State Education

          9  Department, not if they send it, but your

         10  responsibility to know that if it's a New York, if

         11  it's about a New York City student, it's your

         12  responsibility, as the New York City Department of

         13  Education, to know about that report of abuse and

         14  neglect that went to the State Ed. Department?

         15                 MS. O'NEIL:  I just want to say one

         16  thing, knowing Ms. Wernikoff, I would say that she

         17  makes it her business to know about what's going on

         18  with the New York City Department of Special

         19  Education  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But I'm

         21  hearing testimony like, well, if we know about it,

         22  great, if we don't know about it, what can we do

         23  about it.

         24                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  You know, with all

         25  due respect, that's not what I said.  Again, that's
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          2  a mischaracterization.  We have a long- standing

          3  relationship.  We meet with the state all the time.

          4  I have no reason to believe that the state doesn't

          5  provide us with all this information.  So, I really,

          6  you know, I don't think there's anything more I can

          7  say, but I disagree with your characterization of

          8  what I said.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  All right.

         10  Let's try this then.  You also mentioned to our

         11  Chairman, Councilman Jackson, that, you know, if you

         12  get a complaint, you pass it on to the State Ed.

         13  Department.  You mentioned that, in your testimony,

         14  to Councilman Jackson, is that correct?

         15                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  You also

         17  said that you keep those reports, you keep it on

         18  file, the complaints that you would get and you keep

         19  those  --

         20                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  If we  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --  On file.

         22                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  --  Received any, we

         23  would absolutely keep it on file.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  And what

         25  happens, from your perspective, from your office,
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          2  beyond sending the complaint, passing it on to the

          3  State Ed. Department?  What responsibility do you

          4  have, as the New York City Department of Education,

          5  that you've been notified that there's a complaint

          6  about a particular school, whatever that complaint

          7  might be?  What is your responsibility beyond just

          8  passing it on to the New York State Education

          9  Department?

         10                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  To work with the

         11  family of the particular child and to seek from

         12  legal counsel any other additional actions that we

         13  can take against a particular school for a

         14  particular instance.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So, you

         16  conduct an investigation?

         17                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, I don't know

         18  that I personally, but there are legal parameters

         19   --  can I finish?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I'm talking

         21  about the, your unit, your department  --

         22                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Well, I  mean  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --  The New

         24  York City DOE.

         25                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I will ask the lawyer
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          2  to answer this, but certainly if we get complaints,

          3  we go to our Law Office and say, what jurisdiction

          4  do we have, can we investigate and certainly work

          5  with the family of the particular child who is

          6  involved to get a new placement.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  These are

          8  the types of investigations and processes that we

          9  are asking about that you report to us on.

         10                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  What I said and I'm

         11  not, you know, I think the Council Members are

         12  acting as if we're not willing to provide you with

         13  whatever information we have, but I think the issue

         14  here is an issue where you want, you're asking us to

         15  give you things that we don't have free jurisdiction

         16  over.  Whatever we get, whether it's from the State

         17  Education Department, whatever information that we

         18  collect, the names of the schools, we're willing to

         19  absolutely provide to the Council without any

         20  identifiable information.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Agreed,

         22  agreed.  We're not disputing  --

         23                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --  That.

         25  But that's only one aspect.  The other aspect of
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          2  this bill asks for any investigation done by New

          3  York City DOE and any notifications that have been

          4  made to the parents of the child involved in the

          5  investigation and if any notice was made to the

          6  State Ed.  You say you always make notification to

          7  State Ed.  So, we accept that.  But, part of this

          8  bill also asks for information on investigations

          9  that you conduct.  And, you just said to me that you

         10  do conduct investigations.

         11                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  That's not what I

         12  said.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  What do you

         14  call it then? What do you call it?

         15                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  What I was saying,

         16  what we do is we meet with the family.  That's not

         17  an investigation that  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So you get a

         19  complaint and this complaint might allege some type

         20  of abuse.  So, you meet with the family, what do you

         21  do?

         22                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  First of all, let me

         23  start by saying, you asked me if we've gotten any

         24  complaints in the last four years and I can recall

         25  that we have not received any.  Okay, so let's start
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          2  with, you're asking me what we would do in the

          3  future, because I don't believe we, I, since I've

          4  been here in the last four years, that we received

          5  any.  But, Councilman Jackson, we did say we would

          6  get back to you with any.

          7                 What I would do is I would consult

          8  with the Office of Legal Services to find out what

          9  is the Department's parameters for what we could do

         10  in addition to, of course, meeting with the family

         11  and sending it to State Ed.  But, this is

         12  hypothetical because I have to tell you, since I've

         13  been here, I don't recall where this has happened.

         14  So, I mean, that's something that I can only answer

         15  you what I would do in the future, not what I've

         16  done in the past.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But just

         18  know that that is also part of this bill  --

         19                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  I do understand.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --  Asking

         21  that we want to know your internal processes, your

         22  internal investigations and what you have done in

         23  those situations.

         24                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Sure.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Again, we go
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          2  back to the issue of whether you should be aware of

          3  what has been said  --

          4                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Sure.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --   As a

          6  complaint to the State Ed.

          7                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Understood.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you

          9  Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Let me just ask

         11  a question for clarification, if you don't mind.

         12  Concerning the contract or the agreement with, to

         13  place a student out of state.  Is it in the contract

         14  or in the agreement that the out- of- state facility

         15  must communicate or notify the state or the local

         16  agency of any enforcement action taken by, with

         17  respect to their license?

         18                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Again, we don't have

         19  contracts with the individuals.  It's an individual

         20  case- by- case, but I certainly, we could go back

         21  and ask the state and look at our own, look at the

         22  contract to see what's in there.  Off the top of my

         23  head, I, we don't have contracts with the out- of-

         24  state facilities.  We get approval on a child- by-

         25  child basis
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do you have any

          3  knowledge of what Billy's Law requires?

          4                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Yes, Billy's Law

          5  requires that there be certain information that's

          6  provided to the state and/or the local agency,

          7  whoever holds the contract.  In this instance, the

          8  state holds the contract, not the local agency.

          9  But, I will certainly get, go back to the state, if

         10  you'd like, and look and see what's in their

         11  contract.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Is that for all

         13  students?

         14                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  For students, for all

         15  New York State students.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  My

         17  colleague, Maria del Carmen Arroyo has some

         18  questions, please.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  I think I

         20  need to state that, and I'm sorry, I came in a

         21  little late and I didn't get your name, but you

         22  referenced Council Member Gentile, his over

         23  characterization of your statement.  I think you

         24  over characterized our position that we believe that

         25  you're not trying to be helpful and I just want to
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          2  clarify that that's not the case.

          3                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  It's not so

          5  much a question for the panel as much, maybe a

          6  comment to our Chair and the sponsor of the Intro.,

          7  that we should also be having a conversation

          8  internally, requesting our colleagues at the state

          9  to amend their law requiring reporting to the

         10  municipalities. Thank you.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Let me just

         12  introduce my colleagues, Council Member John Liu of

         13  Queens has joined us.

         14                 Well, Ms. Wernikoff, let me thank you

         15  for coming in and giving testimony on this very

         16  important subject matter. Obviously, it's a very

         17  sensitive matter and please be assured that the

         18  questioning of you and even some raised voices was

         19  not at you, personally, but on the whole situation

         20  as far as information and knowledge and process as

         21  to Billy's Law and the responsibilities of the State

         22  Education Department and what we feel that the City

         23  Department of Education should know with respect to

         24  implementation and/or knowledge of the processes in

         25  which our students are placed in out- of- state
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          2  facilities.

          3                 Nothing here today was a personal

          4  attack on you personally or questioning your

          5  integrity or honesty, but just trying to ascertain

          6  information and facts, so that we can determine, in

          7  the best interest of justice, for the students that

          8  are served by the out- of- state facilities that

          9  they're being taken care of for and being looked

         10  after to the best of our knowledge as an oversight

         11  body of the New York City Department of Education.

         12                 MS. WERNIKOFF:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, thank you

         14  for coming in. Thank you.  The next individuals, as

         15  a panel, that we're going to hear from is Vito

         16  Albanese, Senior, advocate and parent of Billy's Law

         17  and Evelyn Nicholson, and Kenneth Mollins.  Are

         18  those individuals here?  Please come forward.  We're

         19  going to start off with Vito Albanese, Senior, then,

         20  Kenneth Mollins and Evelyn Nicholson, in that order.

         21  Mr. Albanese Senior, please begin.

         22                 MR. ALBANESE:  Thank you very much

         23  Chairman Jackson and Assemblyman, Council Member

         24  Vinny, Vincent Gentile, for inviting my comments

         25  before this distinguished body and thank you to all
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          2  the City Council Members for focusing today on the

          3  current state laws and City laws and regulations

          4  intended to protect children from abuse, neglect,

          5  predators, violence and other crimes.

          6                 I come before you as a parent of a

          7  son with traumatic brain injury and as a founding

          8  member of the Family Alliance to Stop Abuse and

          9  Neglect.  It is a grassroots organizations dedicated

         10  to protecting the human rights and dignity of people

         11  with disabilities of all ages.

         12                 In the past two years, we have been

         13  active in New York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania in

         14  identifying and eliminating specific dangerous and

         15  demeaning practices and by fighting for legislation

         16  to protect the most vulnerable and voiceless

         17  population, the disabled children.

         18                 My own son, Billy, was repeatedly

         19  victimized by abuse and neglect at out- of- state

         20  programs, in which he was placed by New York City

         21  and State educational authorities.  In Billy's case,

         22  New York proved to be totally unprepared to take a

         23  proactive stance in scrutinizing and approving the

         24  safety of potential placements for Billy and also

         25  was unable to respond when indications of abuse and
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          2  neglect came to light.

          3                 Billy's story.  My story begins, my

          4  son's story begins when he was in coma for six

          5  months from September, 1984 to March of 1985.  He

          6  remained in a rehabilitation hospital, Children's

          7  Specialized Hospital in Mountainside, New Jersey,

          8  for two years, making substantial progress during

          9  that time.  In October, 1986, Billy came home and

         10  received three months of home instruction before he

         11  was placed in a MIS- 1 class at a public school in

         12  Brooklyn.

         13                 About 18 months later, he was

         14  referred to the Committee on Special Education for

         15  placement in an appropriate day school setting.  In

         16  September, 1988, Billy was placed in the Henry

         17  Viscotti School in Albertson, New York.  In late

         18  1990, I initiated a series of hearings to force the

         19  Committee on Special Ed. To recognize my son as

         20  Traumatically Brain Injured, in order for him to

         21  receive a residential placement designed to address

         22  his needs.

         23                 After being turned down by the City,

         24  I successfully appealed this decision and Billy was

         25  allowed to attend Crotched Mountain Rehabilitation

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Center in Greenfield, New Hampshire, a facility

          3  approved by the State Education Department. This was

          4  the first time my son was abused by staff at an out-

          5  of state facility.  He was knocked out of his

          6  wheelchair and punched by staff members and my son

          7  sustained rib cartilage damage.

          8                 The two staff members who did this to

          9  my son left New Hampshire, escaping prosecution for

         10  this vicious attack on a defenseless young man.  I

         11  complained to the State Education Department about

         12  my son's treatment and their investigators found

         13  that my son had been placed without justification in

         14  physical restraints while at this facility.

         15                 After removing Billy from the

         16  facility, the City and state was still unable to

         17  find an appropriate residential school for my son,

         18  Billy, anywhere in New York State.  I had heard of a

         19  school in Haddonfield, New Jersey called the

         20  Bancroft School, which I had been told was doing

         21  good work with children like my son.  I toured the

         22  school and liked what I saw.  The New York City

         23  Board of Ed. Also reviewed this facility and

         24  approved.

         25                 The Bancroft staff, knowing what had
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          2  happened to my son, Billy, in New Hampshire,

          3  promised me that he would never, ever be physically

          4  restrained on their watch.  Based on this

          5  commitment, at my request, Billy was placed at

          6  Bancroft in November, 1992, while I didn't put it in

          7  my testimony, at the expense of $196,000.00 a year,

          8  for four and a half years, which comes to roughly a

          9  million dollars and $159.00 per diem for one to- one

         10  person to be with my son.  That's an exorbitant

         11  amount of money.

         12                 This was a decision I came to regret.

         13    While Billy was doing well in the Bancroft School,

         14  he was subjected to abuse and neglect at the

         15  residential facility, which was more than 20 miles

         16  away from the school campus.  On repeated occasions,

         17  my son was beaten, physically restrained, left

         18  unsupervised, even though one- on- one supervision

         19  was guaranteed and was paid for by the Board of

         20  Education, at the rate of $159.00 per diem.

         21                 Because of this lack of supervision,

         22  my son sustained at least four serious falls, which

         23  required hospitalization and resulted in over 40

         24  stitches.  As a result of neglect, Billy suffered a

         25  serious weight loss.  Without my knowledge, my son
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          2  was placed on psychotropic drugs and diagnosed with

          3  psychosis, which had not been diagnosed prior to his

          4  placement at Bancroft.

          5                 One night, Billy happened upon two

          6  staff members, who were supposed to be taking care

          7  of the residential facility, engaging in sexual

          8  intercourse.  When they realized Billy had seen

          9  them, he was physically threatened.

         10                 I must tell you that I was not aware

         11  of most of these horrific events until after my son

         12  was discharged from Bancroft in April of 1997.

         13                 Despite my efforts to involve the New

         14  York State Education Department, they have, until

         15  this day, failed to act on any of the information

         16  they had been provided about Bancroft. You should

         17  know that after Billy left Bancroft, a child died

         18  there while being placed in mechanical restraints

         19  for more than 16 months.  The State of New Jersey

         20  had determined that the boy, Matthew Goodman, was

         21  abused and fined Bancroft $2,500.00.

         22                 Even with this record of abuse, there

         23  are approximately 50 children from New York at

         24  Bancroft today. That's another entity, that's more

         25  money.  All are in danger and the State Education
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          2  Department continues to fail to monitor and inspect

          3  this facility, while children are at risk for

          4  serious injury and death while the tax dollars,

          5  hard- working New Yorkers, are sent out- of- state

          6  to pay for abuse and neglect.

          7                 But, Billy's story does not end

          8  there.  I then placed him in the Sunrise House in

          9  East Northport, New York, where he was neglected.

         10  He, again, fell while being unsupervised and was

         11  being overmedicated with psychotropic drugs.  Billy

         12  then went to live in a residential apartment in

         13  Brooklyn, where, once again, he was left

         14  unsupervised and fell.  He also suffered the

         15  indignity of being sexually abused at this facility.

         16    In September, 2001, I removed Billy from this

         17  environment.  He has been home ever since.

         18                 You should know that all the programs

         19  I've talked about were approved by the state.

         20  Obviously, somebody has been ignoring these

         21  problems.  This must stop.  I have concluded that

         22  the only safe place for Billy is at his home and for

         23  the State of New York to provide appropriate

         24  settings, in local communities, for people like

         25  Billy.
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          2                 We have a patchwork of protections.

          3  Children with disabilities are uniquely endangered

          4  by the existence of outdated statutes and

          5  regulations and by unpredictable, uncoordinated

          6  patchwork of expectations and protections among

          7  service settings and across states.  One area in

          8  which this lack of coordination becomes dramatically

          9  evident is around the problematic use of aversives,

         10  painful, noxious or humiliating stimuli applied to

         11  change behavior, and manual, mechanical and chemical

         12  restraints to treat child's disability.

         13                 These obsolete methods, which should

         14  have become extinct long with the lobotomy, are

         15  prohibited by statute or regulation in many states,

         16  while some states continue to tolerate them.

         17  Research consistently shows that restraints are more

         18  likely abused on children and adults, and

         19  adolescents than on adults.  My own son, Billy, was

         20  injured and traumatized when he was dumped from his

         21  wheelchair and restrained on the floor at an

         22  education rehabilitation program in New Jersey.  The

         23  purpose, to teach him a lesson after he refused to

         24  go outdoors on a cold morning without his hat.  A

         25  few years later, in a program run by that same
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          2  provider, another child died after 16 months in

          3  mechanical and chemical restraints.

          4                 New York prohibits non- emergency

          5  restraint in its own educational facilities, yet

          6  regularly consigns its own children to states where

          7  these abuses are permitted.  Parents like myself are

          8  often unaware that this may happen to their child

          9  until it is too late.

         10                 Because no attempt is currently being

         11  made to guarantee continuity of protections across

         12  settings, a child with disabilities might begin

         13  school in his home state of New York, where the use

         14  of restraints and aversives is prohibited by state

         15  education regulations.  Then, be sent to an out- of-

         16  state placement where state regulations allow

         17  children with disabilities to be regularly subjected

         18  to aversives and restraints in their special

         19  education program.  And, might then develop post-

         20  traumatic stress disorder and be placed in a

         21  psychiatric residential treatment facility, where

         22  non- emergency restraints are prohibited under the

         23  federal Children's Health Act of 2000.  And, might

         24  finally be placed in an adult residential facility,

         25  where restraints and aversives again become a daily
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          2  part of his or her habilitation plan.  It is no

          3  wonder that confusion reigns, abuse thrives, and

          4  many families have been forced to pack up and move

          5  to find safe services.

          6                 Under the Children's Health Act of

          7  2000, children in federally- funded mental health

          8  facilities have far greater mandated protections

          9  than the federal government and many states

         10  currently afford to children in their mental

         11  retardation/developmental disabilities systems and

         12  in schools. This makes no sense.  Basic rights and

         13  protections against non emergency restraints and

         14  aversives come and go according to diagnosis and

         15  service system, age, the statutes and regulations of

         16  one's home state or the location of the out- of-

         17  state placement made by one's home state.

         18                 Except for those children in

         19  federally- funded mental health facilities, it is

         20  still down to the states to implement safeguards

         21  against aversives and against the restraints that

         22  injured my son and to assure that those safeguards

         23  are not lost when a child is sent across state

         24  lines.

         25                 When funded by one state and placed
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          2  in another state, children with disabilities also

          3  become entrapped in numerous legal grey areas, also

          4  known as buck passing, when too many administrative

          5  entities are sharing and simultaneously denying

          6  responsibilities.

          7                 Did you know, for example, that

          8  private providers paid by public school districts

          9  frequently claim they are not required to comply

         10  with the federal right to education law, the

         11  Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, which

         12  is also called IDEA?  Many private providers argue

         13  that responsibility for compliance rests only with

         14  the child's schools district in the home state, the

         15  very school district that is paying handsomely to

         16  relieve itself of its duty towards a child's

         17  education by making out- of- state placement.  How

         18  likely is it that a child in such a catch- 22

         19  situation will have his or her rights safeguarded?

         20                 There is now a considerable body of

         21  federal statutes and court decisions mandating

         22  people with disabilities be allowed to live and

         23  attend school in the least restrictive environment

         24  and that methods used to treat their disabilities

         25  must also pass the test of least restrictive.
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          2  Rotenberg is not least restrictive.

          3                 The fundamental right of people with

          4  disabilities to be in normal, everyday settings with

          5  their peers and their family is enshrined in the

          6  Americans with Disability Act, the Developmental

          7  Disabilities and Bill of Rights Act, the Individuals

          8  with Disabilities Education Act, IDEA, and court

          9  decisions such as Olmstead, which requires states to

         10  increase their development of community- based

         11  services, so that individuals currently

         12  institutionalized or on waiting lists, can move into

         13  least restrictive settings.

         14                 Out- of- state placements are, by

         15  large, congregate, segregated and very restrictive

         16  in nature.  They often serve as gateway settings for

         17  adult placements, which are also congregated,

         18  segregated and very restrictive in nature.  By

         19  removing a child far from the family, friends and

         20  community, successful reintegration and compliance

         21  with this growing body of federal mandates becomes

         22  ever more difficult and more problematic.

         23                 Relying on methods of treatment,

         24  which are unacceptable in community settings, also

         25  creates a barrier to the reutilization of statutory
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          2  and legal mandates calling for the implementation of

          3  least restrictive environment.  Decades of evidence

          4  have proven that reliance on restrictive, coercive

          5  techniques leads to reliance on segregated settings

          6  and denial of the right to community inclusion.

          7                 Restraint is now understood to be

          8  dangerous, leading to injuries, deaths and

          9  psychological trauma.  No evidence exists for its

         10  therapeutic value and experts in the field have

         11  embraced the position that restraints are not

         12  treatment, neither is the use of electric shock.

         13  They are a failure of treatment.

         14                 Accordingly, most advocates find

         15  their use to be legitimate only in the face of

         16  serious safety emergency. Aversives are widely

         17  understood to have no efficiency in producing

         18  positive, long- term behavior change and to have no

         19  legitimate use, even in emergency.

         20                 More importantly, it is argued that

         21  the use of restraint, seclusion and aversives

         22  violates constitutional protections, including the

         23  Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual punishment

         24  and the Fourteenth Amendment requirement of

         25  reasonably safe conditions of confinement, freedom
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          2  from unreasonable bodily restraints.  States, such

          3  as New York, need to assure that these archaic

          4  methods are not used on our citizens, whether in-

          5  state or in out- of- state placements.

          6                 Failure to support New York's

          7  families.  Keeping the family unit protected,

          8  together, and strong is a mainstay of American

          9  political philosophy and values.  No one needs the

         10  strength and support of their family more than a

         11  vulnerable child with disabilities.  Why, then, do

         12  we visit on these families the ultimate violence,

         13  forcing them to accept painful, long- distance

         14  separation in order to access needed services that,

         15  for no good reason, do not exist closer to home?

         16                 We have families ripped apart,

         17  children parted from beloved brothers, sisters and

         18  worried parents, driving for hours each weekend to

         19  visit their children in far away facilities and

         20  worrying for the rest of the week about what is

         21  going on when they are not there present to observe.

         22                 We have children with disabilities

         23  unable to participate in family gatherings because

         24  the state has placed them in a facility too far away

         25  and these facilities that the City and state use, as
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          2  far as Oregon, California, Texas, Florida, Virginia,

          3  unable to continue attending their family's church,

          4  synagogue, forgotten by the very members of their

          5  home communities who would gladly pitch in to give

          6  them a ride, invite them to a local event, drop by

          7  with a birthday gift, or just pay them regular

          8  visits.

          9                 New York can and should take a number

         10  of steps to protect its vulnerable children with

         11  disabilities from abuse and neglect and from the

         12  dangers of restrictive environments that place them

         13  out of sight, out of mind.

         14                 We have to put teeth into monitoring

         15  reporting requirements, invest needed resources in

         16  protection and advocacy. Give City and state

         17  agencies the power and the responsibility to

         18  regularly monitor and inspect placements once they

         19  are made and respond promptly to indications of

         20  abuse and neglect.  We must ensure there is a full

         21  coordination and compliance between the City and the

         22  state.

         23                 This need for additional monitoring

         24  is exactly what Introduction 396 does on the City

         25  level.  I support this measure because it will
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          2  instill yet another check to ensure that our

          3  children are safe at these facilities.

          4                 The New York City Department of

          5  Education shall be responsible for biannual reports

          6  that calls for information relative to the

          7  implementation of Billy's Law.  The information that

          8  this bill requires is the name and location of the

          9  out- of state facility, the number of children at

         10  each facility, any enforcement action against the

         11  facility, such as revocation of license or charter,

         12  any enforcement action being taken in reference to

         13  instances of abuse and neglect.

         14                 This bill further calls for

         15  information pertinent to the investigation which

         16  took place pursuant to the complaint and the

         17  conclusion.  This information is extremely pertinent

         18  and viable when dealing with out-of-state

         19  facilities.  This measure will be another check upon

         20  this predominantly unregulated field. Billy's Law

         21  laid the groundwork for this action and I commend

         22  the City for taking yet another step in the right

         23  direction to protect our most vulnerable citizens

         24  and children.

         25                 Introduction 396 will be a valuable
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          2  tool to parents once it becomes law.  We must do

          3  everything in our power to ensure that our children

          4  are safe and this additional monitoring requirement

          5  will be critical in accomplishing that.

          6                 This Committee is to be commended for

          7  its interest in the health and safety of New York's

          8  children with disabilities who are truly our most

          9  vulnerable citizens.  Those who cannot speak or

         10  advocate for themselves require our highest

         11  standards of planning and oversight.  It is time to

         12  be proactive, rather than reacting, in solving their

         13  needs for education and specialized care.

         14                 You have begun that process today and

         15  I feel certain that New York City will elect to take

         16  a leadership role enacting protective legislation

         17  that will make this City and state a national model

         18  and a leader in the disabilities field.

         19                 It is for the above- mentioned

         20  reasons that I firmly support Introduction 396.  I

         21  had  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         23                 MR. ALBANESE:  --  Some further

         24  information.  I have, we have a website, if you

         25  wanted to go and look at our website.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  What is your

          3  website?

          4                 MR. ALBANESE:  It's

          5  www.thefamilyalliance.net and

          6  www.matthewslaw.bravepages.com.  It's about the boy

          7  that died from mechanical restraints at Bancroft

          8  School in New Jersey.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you very

         10  much.  Now, I, turning to the other two witnesses, I

         11  see that Mr. Mollins, you are representing Evelyn

         12  Nicholson, is that correct?

         13                 MR. MOLLINS:  That's correct Mr.

         14  Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Well,

         16  then, would it be appropriate for Ms. Nicholson to

         17  go first and then you, as the attorney representing

         18  her?  Or, how would you like to proceed?

         19                 MR. MOLLINS:  No, I think, Mr.

         20  Chairman, that I have a plethora of information

         21  that's going to be of significant interest to the

         22  Committee.  Ms. Nicholson will be able to tell you

         23   --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Can you please

         25  speak into the microphone.
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          2                 MR. MOLLINS:  Ms. Nicholson will be

          3  to able to tell you about her son at Judge Rotenberg

          4  and his experience there.  All of the, all of the

          5  inquiries that started, started as a result of the

          6  lawsuit that I commenced, representing Ms. Nicholson

          7  for the abuse her son suffered while there.

          8                 I have a significant amount of

          9  information and I can answer a number of the

         10  questions that you asked the first witness here, who

         11  couldn't answer, I can them for you in addition to

         12  some of the other Members.  So, if it's okay with

         13  the Chairman, I would prefer to speak first and give

         14  you the information I have and then she can expound

         15  on that, if that's okay?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  She's in

         17  agreement with that, she is nodding affirmatively.

         18                 MR. MOLLINS:  Okay.  The first time a

         19  client ever agreed with me.  May I proceed?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Go ahead,

         21  please.

         22                 MR. MOLLINS:  Okay.  Initially, I

         23  represent Evelyn Nicholson.  Ms. Nicholson, I

         24  represent her and her son, who are plaintiffs in a

         25  lawsuit against the Judge Rotenberg Center.  We
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          2  started this lawsuit as a result of the treatment

          3  that he received while at the hands of Judge

          4  Rotenberg.

          5                 Of significant interest is to know is

          6  that although he was being shocked there, on a

          7  regular basis, sometimes ten times or more a day,

          8  he's now, since he's left that facility, he's now in

          9  a position where he's not been shocked, he's

         10  functioning unbelievably well in an in- house

         11  residential school or in- state school and he's

         12  almost off all his medication. So, just keep that in

         13  mind.

         14                 Initially, it's my understanding and

         15  it's my legal opinion that New York City must, I

         16  repeat, must have a contract with Judge Rotenberg or

         17  it's illegal for you to pay them any money.  I say

         18  that because I personally, I've seen the elements of

         19  the law, but I've personally reviewed contracts from

         20  over 15 or 16 local school districts, including

         21  Freeport, which is where Antwone went, which are

         22  also subject to the regulations of New York State

         23  and every single local school district has a

         24  contract with Judge Rotenberg.  New York City

         25  clearly does not.
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          2                 The first witness tells you that, I

          3  FOILed, I sent in a FOIL request because I said, New

          4  York City is paying all this money for these kids,

          5  what are they paying for?  Are they paying for

          6  licensed psychologists, are they paying for

          7  teachers? Yet, you have to figure, it's common

          8  sense, it should be written somewhere, what are you

          9  buying.  It's not let the consumer beware here.

         10  You're talking about living kids.

         11                 There is no contract and, as such, I

         12  suggest you have Counsel take a look at whether or

         13  not New York City is paying any money towards the

         14  education of students at Judge Rotenberg illegally.

         15  That money should not be going out and in that vain,

         16  I tell you all, that tomorrow morning, maybe

         17  tomorrow afternoon, at the latest, Monday, I will be

         18  filing a lawsuit, not against the City, but against

         19  the State of New York and against Alan Hevesy, to

         20  receive $150 million that has been paid to the Judge

         21  Rotenberg Center.

         22                 Mr. Albanese and Ms. Nicholson are

         23  the plaintiffs in that, as tax payers, because Judge

         24  Rotenberg is not a certified school.  They're not

         25  certified by the Department of Mental Retardation in
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          2  Massachusetts.  As such, it is illegal for them,

          3  number one, to accept new patients and number two,

          4  illegal for them to operate the facility that

          5  they're operating.

          6                 How do I know this?  Well, in the, in

          7  the documents that I've supplied to you, the, they

          8  were reviewed for certification by the referee who

          9  was in charge of that, that area and they granted

         10  him a conditional two- year certification.  Under

         11  Massachusetts law, a conditional certification means

         12  that you cannot accept any new patients unless and

         13  until every condition has been met.  You'll see all

         14  those conditions in the report that I've given you.

         15                 The State of Massachusetts never,

         16  ever, to date, has gone back and checked on those

         17  conditions.  So, until those conditions have been

         18  wiped away by the state, that school is not

         19  technically certified.

         20                 In addition, that conditional

         21  certification, if it really existed, expired on

         22  January first of this year.  From that date, to the

         23  present, there has been no new certification.  So,

         24  you and the state and anybody else who is paying

         25  money to Judge Rotenberg to the tune, the state, the
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          2  total state payment is in excess of $50 million a

          3  year, is paying a school that's not certified, under

          4  New York law either, because the New York State

          5  regs., the Education Department regs., which are

          6  going to be part of my lawsuit, show that you're not

          7  allowed to pay a school unless that school is

          8  certified.

          9                 So, I suggest to all of you that

         10  somebody check. I will be happy to provide

         11  documentation to anyone who wants to see, because

         12  I'm going to be starting a lawsuit, it will all be

         13  attached to my lawsuit, with respect to, that, they,

         14  nobody can pay these people money and they're not

         15  permitted to accept students.  It's important.

         16                 Now, what are we paying for and

         17  what's really happening?  The reason I'm here to

         18  tell you that is because if Billy's Law was in

         19  effect in New York City and let me just step back a

         20  second.  New York City has a substantial number of

         21  students there.  The complaints that were previously

         22  referred to, the abuse complaints, there were a

         23  number of those students from New York City.  I can

         24  tell you unequivocally, I participated in making

         25  those complaints because I was advised by people in-

                                                            122

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  house as to kids being burned and beaten and

          3  tortured inside.  We filed those complaints.  We

          4  filed complaints with kids having burns up and down

          5  their bodies and up and down their legs and given

          6  what's called GED vacations.

          7                 GED is the graduated electronic

          8  decelerator. That's the shocking device.  They tie

          9  it around the kid's chest and around the kid's legs

         10  and they shock the kid repeatedly for all different

         11  sorts of things.  Okay.  So, the GED, another item

         12  you should know about the GED  --  I lost my trend

         13  of thought of what I was originally going to say is

         14   --  the GED is made by the Judge Rotenberg Center.

         15  They make it.  They determine the voltage, they

         16  inflict the voltage that they see necessary and

         17  whenever anybody asks to have a demonstration, it's

         18  always on a very, very limited voltage.

         19                 These kids are getting voltage, it's

         20  called the GED Four, which is the strongest one,

         21  which has knocked people flat out on their backs.

         22  That's how strong it is.  That's the type of

         23  activity that we're paying for and New York City

         24  children or New York City Council are paying for on

         25  behalf of its children.  Again, we don't have a
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          2  contract, so they say we can do that.

          3                 Now, what else are we paying for?

          4  The students at Judge Rotenberg  --  oh, what I was

          5  going to say is, if Billy's Law was in effect, if

          6  Billy's Law, if this bill that you're considering

          7  was in effect, a lot of what I'm telling you

          8  probably would not have occurred.

          9                 I significantly support, based on my

         10  extensive knowledge about what's going on up there,

         11  the passing of this bill as a first step, because,

         12  realistically, if the New York City Council wants to

         13  keep paying and, again, I heard from your first

         14  witness, well, we're subject to the state, the state

         15  tells us this, the state looks, nonsense.

         16                 You're an independent City agency.

         17  You can take affirmative action not to send to a

         18  specific school if your students are being punished

         19  at that school.  You don't have to follow state

         20  recommendations.  They're on the list.  Well, the

         21  state has this list going for years and years.

         22  Nobody's checking.  Judge Rotenberg wasn't checked

         23  until I, until I actually filed a lawsuit.  Then

         24  they went and looked and filed and filed a report,

         25  where they found that the health and safety of our
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          2  children are in significant question.

          3                 You folks want to send New York City

          4  children to an institution that the state has found

          5  is questionable with respect to the health and

          6  safety of how they treat our children? Not to

          7  mention, of course, that you wear this electric

          8  shocking device in a shower or bath.  You guys, it's

          9  ridiculous.  These kids can get shocked.

         10                 This device, the training, somebody

         11  mentioned the training before, asked about the

         12  training of the people there. I've included in my

         13  package something that almost nobody has seen yet,

         14  it's the training manual that they give to new

         15  people coming in to learn how to work at JRC.  It's

         16  a two- week course and what they basically do in

         17  that two- week course, because I've met with people

         18  who've been through it, they read the book that's in

         19  there to them and then they give them the device and

         20  say, go take, go shock these kids, any time they do

         21  anything wrong, shock these kids.

         22                 That wouldn't happen if Billy's Law

         23  were tolerated.  I brought a lawsuit against New

         24  York State and I said, listen, judge, in Albany I

         25  went, somebody's got to enforce Billy's Law.  What's
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          2  the state's position on this?  And, Mr. Spitzer sent

          3  in a young attorney general who got up and said, we

          4  just haven't had really time to look.  I said, you

          5  haven't had time to look to see if kids who are

          6  being sent out of state to the state cost of $50

          7  million a year are being protected?  Does that make

          8  any sense?

          9                 The judge just shook his head and he

         10  gave me a temporary restraining order stopping the

         11  use of shocks on Antwone because he felt it was

         12  outrageous, outrageous.  I couldn't bring that for

         13  every kid, because I didn't represent every kid, but

         14  he signed a TRO right there, saying, we won't have

         15  it.  We will not have it.  Then, Antwone was able to

         16  be removed from the school.

         17                 So, what you're finding there is

         18  because of the fact that this shocking device, this

         19  aversive therapy, doesn't work right and it's being

         20  used by people who are untrained, we have a

         21  situation where a young man was shocked in his

         22  testicles. I heard this from the lady who was

         23  standing next to him when it happened.  He was

         24  shocked because the device that runs up from the

         25  leg, through the underpants, into the back, twisted
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          2  and it shocked him right in, right in that area.

          3                 On a regular basis, students are

          4  shocked right in the spine.  Why?  Because the

          5  device, it's not made well. Nobody's looking at how

          6  it's made.  So, it twists around and kids are

          7  getting shocked, on a regular basis, right into the

          8  back, right into the spine.  Just picture what these

          9  kids are going through.  These poor kids, who can't

         10  even communicate or really can't even understand why

         11  they're being shocked.

         12                 You have kids taken out of classrooms

         13  for activities that they did at the beginning the

         14  class, they're taken out at the end of the class and

         15  brought to a room downstairs, where they're tied

         16  down, with their arms tied above their head and

         17  their legs strapped.  I've spoken to children who

         18  this was done to.  Their legs strapped to the floor

         19  and the shock is administered, as somebody said

         20  before, five or six or eight times in a half hour

         21  period and these kids have no clue what they're

         22  being shocked for.  The activity was for something

         23  that occurred a long, long time ago, hours ago.

         24                 Somebody on the Council asked a very

         25  interesting question before and it raised some
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          2  lights that I'd like to just respond to.  Well, this

          3  has all been approved by a Massachusetts judge and

          4  the parents have, you know, have approved this, so

          5  that's the, so what, the parents say it's okay,

          6  Judge Rotenberg, by the way, who the school is named

          7  after, was the guy who approved all these, okay.

          8  That's how the school got it's name. It was named

          9  after the judge who put a ruling in, in favor of the

         10  school, allowing them to do this in Massachusetts,

         11  okay.

         12                 So, the kids go to court, I think

         13  there's a number that I read somewhere, that there

         14  are 10,000 or more applications for GEDs for shock

         15  therapy in Massachusetts in the probate court and

         16  there has not been one denial, none.  It's a rubber

         17  stamp.

         18                 I submit to you a letter by a lawyer,

         19  who I spoke to extensively, who went into court to

         20  oppose these things on behalf of the children  --

         21  by the way, the children's parents don't know the

         22  kids are going into court.  A lawyer is appointed

         23  for these kids in Massachusetts.  The children's

         24  parents are told afterwards, as Ms. Nicholson will

         25  tell you.  This, somebody goes in and sits there
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          2  while the judge approves these devices.

          3                 I have a letter here from a lawyer

          4  who actually stopped going in.  He gave up on that.

          5  He's with, he's with a behavioral research institute

          6  in Massachusetts and he's telling us, it's a joke,

          7  it's a rubber stamp, it gets approved every single

          8  time and all the research that I've found indicates

          9  that.

         10                 There's a number of other things just

         11  to make reference to.  I told you about the training

         12  manual.  In here, as Exhibit Three, as Exhibit, I'm

         13  missing it, I have a list, Number Two, a list of

         14  activities for which Antwone Nicholson was shocked.

         15  Now, this shock device is supposed to be used to

         16  stop this horrible behavior of these kids.  It's

         17  horrendous.  These kids are acting out.  They should

         18  be shocked to stop it, right?

         19                 Well, what most kids get, and Antwone

         20  is a high functioning student, he's not a student

         21  who is, you know, a behavior problem.  There's a

         22  list in here and you can read it. It's right there.

         23  It comes right out of Antwone's record, it says, if

         24  Antwone was told to sit down and he responded no,

         25  boom, he's shocked.  You don't, not, you don't say
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          2  no to a direction. If I did that, I'd be shocking my

          3  kids all day.  I mean, there would be no doubt.  I,

          4  there's no doubt.  I mean, every time he said no, he

          5  was shocked.

          6                 Without me going into the document,

          7  if he stopped doing is work for a period of ten

          8  seconds or more, he was shocked.  He was getting

          9  shocked on a regular basis and if Billy's Law or

         10  some type of law to allow you people to go in and

         11  look or have somebody look what's going on,

         12  everything that I'm telling you that I found out by

         13  personal inquiry can be find, can be found out and

         14  would be stopped.

         15                 New York State Law and I believe the

         16  City of New York Law says that we don't permit pain

         17  or corporal punishment to be used in education.

         18  It's a New York State Department of Education

         19  regulation.  The New York State Department of Mental

         20  Retardation has said repeatedly and publicly that

         21  this activity that goes on at this school with the

         22  use of shocks is corporal punishment and is

         23  absolutely intolerable.  So, the New York State

         24  Department of Mental Retardation says, we won't have

         25  it.
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          2                 But, the New York State Department of

          3  Education says, maybe we'll limit it.  And, you

          4  know, they put up some limitations, but those

          5  limitations are questionable, because they raise the

          6  question, is any type of shock possible?  Is any

          7  type of shock right?  That's a question that's being

          8  asked by every single group in the country,

          9  literally, because I'm hearing from people all over

         10  the country.

         11                 I'll end and take questions, if they

         12  exist. Assemblyman Gottfried wrote a letter, he's

         13  the head of the Health Committee in the State

         14  Senate. I have his letter in here, and that letter

         15  calls this treatment barbaric and torturous and it

         16  should stop. It seems that everybody agrees, but

         17  these kids are still sitting in schools getting

         18  shocked.

         19                 My suggestion is to think about maybe

         20  passing a bill that says, New York City will not

         21  send to a school, will not send to a school where,

         22  or pay any money or publicly fund any school where

         23  aversive therapy is instituted.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  Ms.

         25  Nicholson, do you have any comments?  Speak into the
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          2  mic please, if you don't mind.  Before you do, let

          3  me just introduce my other colleagues that have

          4  joined us, Helen Foster of the Bronx is to my left

          5  and Bill de Blasio of Brooklyn is to my right.

          6                 MR. MOLLINS:  Because a

          7  representative from the Bronx is here, a few months

          8  ago, two students ran away from, from the school and

          9  disappeared.  The school never notified New York

         10  City or New York State.  When I called the police to

         11  find them, that was the first indication that

         12  anybody in New York had any news that these girls

         13  were missing for days

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  They were

         15  missing from the Judge Rotenberg Center.

         16                 MR. MOLLINS:  Thank you.  They got

         17  into a car and they took off.  The Canton Police

         18  knew, but there was no notification to the families

         19  here, both parents of both girls missing, one from

         20  the Bronx and one from Long Island and that

         21  notification never went to the City of New York,

         22  just like, just like all the teachers and all the

         23  staff there are told, if you, if you notify anybody

         24  about any allegations of abuse, you will be fired

         25  immediately and I'm getting that right from staff.
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          2  I'm sorry.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Ms. Nicholson.

          4                 MS. NICHOLSON:  Yeah.  Good

          5  afternoon.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Good afternoon.

          7                 MS. NICHOLSON:  I would just like to

          8  say since I have hired Mr. Mollins, a lot of things

          9  have happened good for Antwone.  He's been placed in

         10  another placement and he's doing very well.  He's

         11  going to be placed in another placement, because

         12  he's aging out to where he's out.  He's been able to

         13  go to little gatherings that they have at the

         14  facility where he's at now. He's getting his

         15  education.  He's sitting down.  He's following

         16  directions.  He's doing very well.  I'm just happy

         17  that he's out of Judge Rotenberg Center.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  How long was he

         19  at Judge Rotenberg Center?

         20                 MS. NICHOLSON:  About three years.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  About three

         22  years.  Okay. Your son, Antwone, you're from Long

         23  Island?

         24                 MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Is that
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          2  correct?

          3                 MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, he was not

          5  part of the New York City Department of Education,

          6  but he was still under the same state laws, state

          7  programs and state funding.  So, all of the

          8  regulations that govern New York City students would

          9  govern your son, is that correct?

         10                 MR. MOLLINS: That's correct.

         11                 MS. NICHOLSON:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Well,

         13  let me turn to my colleagues for questions and

         14  comments.  Council Member Lew Fidler of Brooklyn.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I continue to

         16  be a little, I guess, upset by all of this.  I, you

         17  know, it's kind of funny, I remember a Law and Order

         18  episode that kind of was, you know, ripped from the

         19  pages of this Hearing.  You know, you watch it on TV

         20  and it's fiction and this is so much more

         21  compelling.  So, I'm curious, how did Antwone, Mr.

         22  Albanese, you explained how Billy came to the Judge

         23  Rotenberg Center, how did Antwone come to the Judge

         24  Rotenberg Center?

         25                 MR. MOLLINS:  The list of how people
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          2  get to Judge, Judge Rotenberg, I've sent a list of

          3  how, where they get all their people.  A number of

          4  people come from jail, from court  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I'm asking

          6   --

          7                 MR. MOLLINS:  Antwone  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --

          9  Specifically  --

         10                 MR. MOLLINS:  --  Specifically  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  About

         12  Antwone because it strikes me that the testimony of

         13  DOE is, at least in the City of New York, at this

         14  point, to go to the Judge Rotenberg Center, it

         15  almost has to be at the insistence of the parent.

         16                 MR. MOLLINS:  That's, I wouldn't say

         17  that's necessarily true, but there are certain, in

         18  order to have the shock therapy applied, you have to

         19  have certain, there are certain precautions being

         20  given.  New York City, it's on the list, if a parent

         21  wants to choose it, they go  --  when you go there,

         22  it's the greatest place in the world.  You go there,

         23  you walk in, it's like there's pinball machines and

         24  there's, you can't believe, it's a haven, the rooms

         25  are gorgeous, all of which we're paying for or tax
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          2  payers are paying for.  It's a beautiful place until

          3  you get behind that front entranceway.

          4                 The students that arrive at Judge

          5  Rotenberg are mixed from all different places.

          6  Antwone came, a judge in Nassau County, who was

          7  holding a hearing with respect to Antwone's

          8  education said, I'm giving you a choice.  I'm going

          9  to either incarcerate you for a very short period of

         10  time or I'm sending you to Judge Rotenberg to be, as

         11  part of your punishment.

         12                 In the classrooms, these kids, and by

         13  the way, this violates New York State Education, the

         14  policy guidelines, all the kids are put into a

         15  classroom.  It does, they're not put in by

         16  educational background.  They're put in, there are

         17  kids of every age and every diverse background in

         18  every class.  So, the learning, the teachers say

         19  they can't teach like that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, I take it

         21  Antwone was in a family court proceeding and a

         22  family court judge offered him a choice between jail

         23  and Judge Rotenberg.

         24                 MR. MOLLINS:  Absolutely.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Probably made
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          2  the wrong choice.

          3                 MR. MOLLINS:  He, you know what, he

          4  did make the wrong choice.  Just so you people

          5  understand this, Ms. Nicholson spends, Ms. Nicholson

          6  is a woman who handles foster children and the only

          7  foster children that she handles are children who

          8  come from drug- addicted, seriously problematic

          9  parents.

         10                 So, all of the children that she

         11  handles with, have serious problems that have to be

         12  attended to and she was mortified when she found out

         13  what was happening to Antwone at this school.  She

         14  has, what nine, ten, how many?

         15                 MS. NICHOLSON:  I have about seven.

         16                 MR. MOLLINS:  Seven children and a

         17  number of them who have these problems, she adopted.

         18    So, she's a saint in that regard.  She's taking

         19  care of all these kids that nobody else wants to

         20  take care of.  When she found out they were

         21  torturing him.  By the way, they don't tell the

         22  parent, they don't tell the parent that they're

         23  going to give him  --  they say, well, you know, if

         24  he misbehaves or if he does something really bad,

         25  we'll give him a little shock.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, let's

          3  get to that, because I'm kind of interested, you

          4  know.  You're saying that, first of all, how old is

          5  Antwone?  He's 17 and so there was a court order

          6  granted in the State of Massachusetts permitting

          7  aversive behavioral techniques to be used on

          8  Antwone.  At what point did Ms. Nicholson become

          9  aware of any court proceeding?

         10                 MR. MOLLINS:  Answering that question

         11  is easy because she wasn't told about it until long

         12  after and what happened was, when you get, went to

         13  the school, a year before he went into the school,

         14  she signed an authorization for any type of

         15  treatment that they want to do, you know.  It's a,

         16  they give you a package like this and they say, just

         17  sign everything.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I, you know,

         19  I was going to get to that.  I had a feeling, it's

         20  kind of like when you sign an elderly parent into a

         21  nursing home.  They give you a stack of papers and,

         22  you know, you're so happy that you found a place

         23  that you're satisfied with that will take them, that

         24  you sign them and then you find out later on that

         25  you've agreed to be personally financially liable
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          2  and stuff like that.  In this case, the repercussion

          3  is much more severe.  Is that authorization in plain

          4  English?

          5                 MR. MOLLINS:  It says that they may,

          6  they may give students a shock to, you know, a

          7  shock, I don't have one with me, but, I mean, I

          8  could send one in.  The, it, I would say it's

          9  probably in plain English.  I think it says, I think

         10  it's understandable that they were going to give a

         11  shock for certain serious behaviors and that's what,

         12  that's what it's meant  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And you, and

         14  it's your contention and the testimony that I've

         15  heard here that they give the shocks for far less

         16  serious  --

         17                 MR. MOLLINS:  If you just take a look

         18    --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --

         20  Behavioral  --

         21                 MR. MOLLINS:  --  You can see, it's

         22  listed  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I'm not  --

         24                 MR. MOLLINS:  --  Every one  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I'm just
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          2  asking, you gave us a lot of information to read

          3  here.

          4                 MR. MOLLINS:  Well, and that's,

          5  that's absolutely true.  There are kids, there's a

          6  type of shock therapy, which is called the

          7  indiscriminate shock.  This one is just wild,

          8  because in New York, it's so illegal.

          9                 If a, they take a kid and they put

         10  his hands into a holster and if the hand moves out

         11  of the holster, he's given multiple shocks.  So, the

         12  kid doesn't have control.  He's walking.  A lot of

         13  time these devices don't work properly because

         14  they're made by the center in a basement room

         15  somewhere.  They're not even federally approved.

         16  The FDA hasn't approved them.

         17                 If the kid's hand moves, even a

         18  little bit, the kid gets shocked and the reason for

         19  that is the kid may be hitting himself in the head,

         20  so they don't want him to take his hand to go to his

         21  head, so they're giving him extensive shocks just

         22  because he's moving his hand.  So, that's serious.

         23                 I think, Councilman Fidler, you may

         24  have asked a question before that I can probably

         25  answer.  You have 100 parents, 106 parents who are
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          2  vehemently in support of leaving their kids at this

          3  Center and how can that be?  Why would that be?

          4                 Well, when you have a child who's so

          5  out of control that they're having trouble

          6  controlling him and that child is hurting

          7  themselves, the treatment being given at Judge

          8  Rotenberg, the infliction of pain will stop that

          9  activity, just as and I've been quoted as saying,

         10  you could take a baseball bat and get the same

         11  result that they're getting with the shock.  You can

         12  bang the kid over the back with a baseball bat and

         13  that activity will stop as long as there's a threat

         14  of the shock. But, as soon as you take that threat

         15  away, it goes away.  So, these kids are there for

         16  years.  You have kids there til they're into

         17  adulthood.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, you

         19  know, I, as a father of two, couldn't conceive of

         20  authorizing this kind of treatment for my child.  It

         21  sounds like, to me, that the cure is worse than the

         22  disease.  But, what do you say to the 103 parents

         23  who have chosen, you know, who made that choice?  I

         24  mean, as, I'm going to give them full credit for

         25  loving their children and being extraordinarily
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          2  frustrated and yet clinging to this hope that maybe

          3  the Rotenberg people are right and we're all wrong.

          4  You know, I'm a lawyer, I'm a Councilman, I'm far

          5  from a behavioral therapist  --

          6                 MR. MOLLINS:  And we have one  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  And I'm

          8  willing to bet, just like, you know, you put two

          9  lawyers in the room, you'll have three opinions.  If

         10  I put two behavioral therapists in a room, I'll

         11  have, you know, more than two opinions.

         12                 MR. MOLLINS:  Not on this issue you

         13  won't.  You won't  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So,

         15  behavioral therapists are universally in agreement

         16  that aversive behavioral techniques do not work?

         17                 MR. MOLLINS:  I would say and I

         18  haven't spoken to everyone, but I've spoken to one,

         19  people, all over the country, almost every

         20  significant group and you have somebody here to

         21  testify from one of the significant groups, not one

         22  person has supported it.  You won't find any peer

         23  review to say that they're doing, that what they're

         24  doing will have an effect.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, hasn't
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          2  this been challenged then as a medically

          3  unorthodoxed, I mean, it's like Laitril (phonetic),

          4  I mean, you know, hasn't that been challenged on

          5  this basis?  And, if so, why hasn't it been closed

          6  down?

          7                 MR. MOLLINS:  Welcome to my world.

          8  That's what I've been asking for a year and a half.

          9  It's been challenged by every major organization who

         10  handles, who's involved in behavioral psychology.

         11  You know, this is, Matthew is real, the director of

         12  the Center, this is what he's doing.

         13                 In Massachusetts, he pulls so much

         14  weight and nobody's challenging him.  The Department

         15  of Mental Retardation has not gone in to re- check

         16  the place because they're, the first group that did

         17  it, six years ago, they're all fired, after they

         18  came back with a report.  They're terrified of him

         19  out there. But, in New York, we've got the purse

         20  strings and that's why my lawsuits are geared

         21  towards cutting them off, because everybody, you

         22  won't find one group that agrees that this is

         23  helpful.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I heard the

         25  suggestion made, maybe it was your suggestion, that

                                                            143

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  the City of New York pass legislation that says you

          3  cannot use New York City tax money to do this.  I

          4  have a feeling that DOE would come here and tell us

          5  that we don't have the power to do that on the state

          6  law. That's probably the case.  So  --

          7                 MR. MOLLINS:  We already have a state

          8  law that says child abuse is illegal in New York,

          9  so.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I'm talking

         11  about the specific suggestion that this Council

         12  direct DOE not to place anybody in an institute like

         13  Rotenberg that use aversive behavior techniques and

         14  pays for it, in any part, with City money, that that

         15  be made illegal.  I don't know that we have the

         16  power to do that.  So, sir, you know, it may be your

         17  lawsuit and I wish you a great deal of good fortune

         18  with it.

         19                 MR. MOLLINS:  I just beg to differ on

         20  that, because you can, you have an obligation, not

         21  only can you, you have an obligation to protect your

         22  students and as long as it's done with due process

         23  with hearings, you can legislate away  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  In all due

         25  respect, sir, the, you know, DOE has been here and
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          2  told us that we can't tell DOE whether or not kids

          3  can have cell phones on their person in public

          4  schools.

          5                 So, there are arcane issues of state

          6  law and under the laws, the Mayor is given control

          7  of the New York City school system that probably

          8  makes this issue beyond our direct purview. So, you

          9  know, that, there's always another angle to it.  I

         10  wish that were not the case and perhaps, Mr.

         11  Chairman, the Counsel to the Committee can look at

         12  that question and if I'm wrong, I'd be very happy to

         13  hear that I'm wrong and I'd be happy to file

         14  legislation on it.  But, I have a feeling I'm not.

         15                 MR. MOLLINS:  Billy's Law is a good,

         16  at least a good first step.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you

         18  Council Member. Before I turn over to my colleague,

         19  Vincent Gentile of Brooklyn, let me ask whether or

         20  not any of you have a video of the Judge Rotenberg

         21  Center or know of anyone else who does?

         22                 MR. MOLLINS:  There is  --

         23                 MR. ALBANESE:  They have a big

         24  website.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Can you speak
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          2  into the mic, if you don't mind please.

          3                 MR. ALBANESE:  Chair Jackson, you go

          4  on Rotenberg Center's website and he'll show you all

          5  his goodies.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Yes, but that's

          7  showing, I guess, the ideal situations.  But, I'm

          8  talking about, is there any advocates or parents out

          9  there that may have a video of JRC that they've

         10  obtained from other sources, other than from JRC,

         11  which may show any of the allegations of

         12  mistreatment of clients at that facility?

         13                 MR. ALBANESE:  I don't know that.

         14                 MR. MOLLINS:  I don't think there's

         15  any video tape.  I have spoken to numerous staff

         16  members, both current and former and the most

         17  telling thing that was told to me was just a few

         18  months ago, when one of them said to me, when you

         19  walk down the halls, you can smell the skin of the

         20  children burning. That's what the staff member said.

         21    He quit right after he said that to me.  He said

         22  he couldn't stand it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  My colleague,

         24  Vincent Gentile, the prime sponsor of the bill.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you
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          2  Mr. Chairman. Mr. Mollins, I'm still somewhat

          3  confused about this issue of who contracts with

          4  these out- of- state facilities.  We all know that

          5  there's a state- approved list, that the state,

          6  through the State Education Department, puts

          7  together this approved list.

          8                 But, it has been my understanding,

          9  although I was rebuffed by the New York City DOE

         10  representative here, that it was the local districts

         11  that formally contracted with the out- of state

         12  facilities that were on the state- approved list.

         13  She said to me that, Ms. Wernikoff, said to me

         14  that's not the case with New York City.  The New

         15  York City does not contract with the out of- state

         16  facilities.  You told something different here.

         17  Your testimony's something different.  So, could you

         18  just clarify for me how it should work or how it's

         19  supposed to work?

         20                 MR. MOLLINS:  Okay.  We can both

         21  answer that to some degree  --

         22                 MR. ALBANESE:  Let me  --

         23                 MR. MOLLINS:  Go ahead.

         24                 MR. ALBANESE:  --  Answer that.

         25  She's, she's got misinformation.  Remember when I
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          2  came to you many years ago talking about this

          3  contract issue.  At that time, maybe you didn't

          4  remember, I have a contract home that New York City,

          5  the state and the vice- president of the facility

          6  where Billy was sent is a signed contract.  The

          7  City, the Chancellor, the Board of Education signs

          8  off on that contract.  The State Education

          9  Committee, State Education Commissioner signs the

         10  contract and the vice- president of Crotched

         11  Mountain in Greenfield, New Hampshire.  I have that

         12  contract home.  She's misinformed.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So, it's a

         14   --

         15                 MR. ALBANESE:  And they also  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --

         17  Combination  --

         18                 MR. ALBANESE:  --  And Bancroft is a,

         19  let me say this, you want to know where the

         20  contracts are?  Ask Counsel to go to 65 Court

         21  Street, where they have one special division called

         22  Contract Aid.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Let me say

         24  this.  So, it is a contract that is signed off by

         25  the Chancellor of the New York City school system
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          2   --

          3                 MR. ALBANESE:  Correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --  And the

          5  State Education Commissioner?

          6                 MR. ALBANESE:  Correct, and the vice-

          7  president of the institution.  That's, that

          8  specifically says what the services are going to be

          9  provided and also in that contract there is a

         10  liability issue where there's a million dollar

         11  insurance policy that should be registered  --

         12  listen to what I'm saying carefully  --  at the

         13  Comptroller's Office.  I went to the Comptroller a

         14  long time ago, when Hevesi was Comptroller of the

         15  City of New York.  I says, where's the contract for

         16  x, y and z. He said, we don't have a registered

         17  contract.  When City of New York spends money on any

         18  service they provide, there must be a contract.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So, you're

         20  saying that there's no registered contract for JRC.

         21  Mr. Mollins, is that what you're saying?

         22                 MR. MOLLINS:  I have FOILed, I made a

         23  FOIL request, because the state told me that the

         24  local school district must have a contract and my

         25  response, which I provided, says, we don't have a
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          2  contract.  As an aside, I also FOILed the state and

          3  I requested their contract and they, too  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  When you say

          5  the state, you mean New York.

          6                 MR. MOLLINS:  New York State and

          7  they, too, said they don't have a contract.  Now, in

          8  one of my lawsuits, I've asked for a copy of the

          9  contract to see if Judge Rotenberg has it, but that

         10  was just sent out, so I haven't gotten that yet.

         11                 But, my understanding, based on what

         12  the state told me and based on my review of the some

         13  of the regulations is that the, that the young lady

         14  who testified was misinformed.  The City of New

         15  York, in order to pay, must have a contract or else

         16  it becomes violative of the law for them to pay

         17  without that contract.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But, is it

         19  your understanding that we, there is a contract?

         20                 MR. MOLLINS:  No  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  There is no

         22  contract  --

         23                 MR. MOLLINS:  --  There's no contract

         24    --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  ---  in New
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          2  York City  --

          3                 MR. MOLLINS:  --  As far as, as far

          4  as, you know, for the past couple of years, which is

          5  what I had asked for.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Right.

          7                 MR. ALBANESE:  I believe they're

          8  claiming, but if you'll subpoena, as Mr. Who  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I think that

         10  was  --

         11                 MR. ALBANESE:  --  Somebody talked

         12  about  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --

         14  Councilman Fidler  --

         15                 MR. ALBANESE:  --  Subpoenaing  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --  Yes.

         17                 MR. ALBANESE:  --  You issue a

         18  subpoena, maybe the contract magically appears.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Sometimes

         20  that happens, you're right, you're right,

         21  absolutely, sometimes that happens. I know the

         22  hour's late, but I thank you all for your testimony,

         23  too, because this, I think, is an eye- opener for

         24  many of us on the Council.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you  --
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          2                 MR. ALBANESE:  As it was to the state

          3  because it opened up pandora's box in Albany.  They

          4  didn't even know they exist, the ramifications of

          5  the problem that children leave this state and

          6  nobody was watching the store for them hundreds of

          7  millions of dollars.  What bang for the buck are we

          8  getting? We're going to get electric shock.  We're

          9  going to get kids beaten up.

         10                 MR. MOLLINS:  Oh, just, I'm sorry,

         11  can I, just, there's just one other item I think

         12  that's important for me to say.  Actually, it's two.

         13    I filed a complaint with the Department of

         14  Massachusetts Licensure Division.  You may have read

         15  about the result of that complaint.  It was in the

         16  past week or two.  Fourteen of the people at Judge

         17  Rotenberg, who have been deemed psychologist were

         18  not licensed psychologists.  They are not

         19  psychologists and they were fined and the school is

         20  picking up the fine with our tax dollars,

         21  $43,000.00.

         22                 In addition, schooling there is being

         23  taught by non- certified teachers.  There are no

         24  teachers, there was one teacher out of 18 that was

         25  certified who was teaching.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do you know if

          3  there's any, Ms. Linda Wernikoff, of the Department

          4  of Education, spoke about, you know, there's changes

          5  in- state that's happening, so that less and less

          6  students are placed out of state.  Do you have any

          7  comment on that?

          8                 MR. ALBANESE:  I haven't seen

          9  anything.

         10                 MR. MOLLINS:  Well, based upon what

         11  I've been hearing, I've been hearing this now for a

         12  number of years, because I've been working as a

         13  child advocate for a number of years.  I'm

         14  continually told by people in the state and in the

         15  City that we don't have room to put these students

         16  and that's why we have to ship them out and we're

         17  working on it, we're working on it, Rebecca Cort

         18  from New York State Department of Education told me,

         19  we don't have room for them, we're sending them out

         20  There's still no room.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Just before

         22  we thank the panel, we just wanted to see if Billy

         23  had a few words he wanted to say.  Can you, Billy,

         24  do you want to say a few words?

         25                 BILLY ALBANESE:  Please Council
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          2  Members, please pass Billy's Law.  Okay.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  And we're

          4  lucky that Billy's Law has been passed and we're

          5  working on something in the City similar to that.

          6                 BILLY ALBANESE:  All right, all

          7  right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 MR. ALBANESE:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, thank you

         12  Billy and Mr. Albanese and Mr. Mollins and Ms.

         13  Nicholson for coming in.

         14                 We'll next hear from Dr. Freddy

         15  Brown, Fredda, I'm sorry, Fredda Brown of Queens

         16  College and TASH, t- a- s- h and Paul Cassone, from

         17  The Guild for Exceptional Children and from Ronald

         18  Smith, PS162, Manhattan District 75.  So, would the

         19  three of you please come forward.  Thank you.  Dr.

         20  Fredda Brown, you may begin.

         21                 DR. BROWN:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Pull the mic up

         23  a little closer please.

         24                 DR. BROWN:  Thank you for this

         25  opportunity.  My name is Dr. Fredda Brown.  I'm a
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          2  Professor of Special Education at Queens College,

          3  where I train special education teachers.  I am the

          4  Editor- in- Chief of the Peer Review Journal of

          5  Research and Practice for Persons with Severe

          6  Disabilities.  I'm on the Board of TASH and the

          7  Association for Positive Behavior Supports.  I have

          8  written articles, books, books' chapters and so on

          9  in the area of severe disabilities.

         10                 Today, I would like to spend my few

         11  moments sharing with you some thoughts about where

         12  we are and where we should be going.  But, I kind

         13  of, after hearing some other things that were said

         14  today, I'd like, as an aside, I have been to the

         15  Judge Rotenberg Center on a number of occasions.  I

         16  have tried the electric shock personally and I've

         17  also been to probate court there as expert witness

         18  against the use of shock for two particular

         19  individuals.

         20                 My first time in probate court, the

         21  probate court judge, the master, was sleeping and,

         22  well, I'm not, I can't say for sure he was sleeping,

         23  but he sure had his eyes closed and did not appear

         24  to be concentrating on what I was saying.  The

         25  second time I went, my testimony was thrown out
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          2  because I was considered biased and I'm not sure how

          3  one is not biased in such matters.

          4                 But, anyway, I would like to be a

          5  little constructive today as well as I go through

          6  here.  One reason that has been offered for why we

          7  continue to send our children with severe behavioral

          8  challenges out of state is that we don't have the

          9  capacity and we don't have the skills.  I have to

         10  beg to differ.  We do have people with exceptional

         11  skills and they are disbursed across the state,

         12  including the metro area.  They are here.  They are

         13  leaders in the field and they could guide us. Are we

         14  to think that, perhaps, Massachusetts or New Jersey

         15  or any other place have professionals with more

         16  expertise than we have in New York?  They don't.

         17  They don't have more skills.  That is absurd.

         18                 The issue is, how do we most

         19  effectively use these resources.  How do we make

         20  sure these resources get to the people who need

         21  them?  How do we overcome politically and

         22  financially motivated obstacles to doing what we

         23  know is the right thing to do? And that is, to

         24  provide effective and positive support for all of

         25  our New York children.
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          2                 I believe that more support is needed

          3  in New York on both the pre- service and the in-

          4  service levels of staff development.  Children are

          5  referred out of state because of staff in ability to

          6  meet the needs of these children.  Better training

          7  of our staff is critical if we are to change things

          8  and to prevent the level of behavior that leads to

          9  the out- of- state placement.

         10                 In terms of pre- service, we need to

         11  make sure that we not just prepare our future of

         12  applied behavior analysts and special educators to

         13  work with children with challenging behaviors, and

         14  that's who everybody's talking about, just the

         15  teacher and the applied behavior analyst.  We need

         16  to prepare all school personnel, school

         17  psychologists, counselors, principals,

         18  superintendents.

         19                 For example, I see school

         20  psychologists writing behavior plans who do not have

         21  any training in functional behavioral assessment and

         22  positive behavior supports.  Then, we wonder why the

         23  student's behavior is not improving and then we see

         24  escalation of behavior.  Then, once we see

         25  escalation of behavior, everything spirals out of
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          2  control and eventually those are the folks who are

          3  going to end up with aversives being recommended for

          4  them.

          5                 What about our Ed. Leadership

          6  programs.  Are they preparing principals to walk

          7  into situations and make, and make informed

          8  decisions about what is going on?  We need state

          9  certification and licensing requirements that

         10  include discipline specific knowledge, skills and

         11  dispositions appropriate to each professional in the

         12  school community and then we, in higher education,

         13  need to respond to those licensing requirements and

         14  better prepare these people.

         15                 But, in- service support, we also

         16  need school leadership to know that it is not okay

         17  to refer challenging student out- of- state, but it

         18  is okay to reach out to others with expertise to

         19  provide technical supports.  And, our schools don't

         20  do this.  They don't ask for extra support.  They

         21  refer people out or they get more aversive.  Our

         22  challenge is to make sure the necessary expertise

         23  ends up in those schools and that the schools are

         24  not punished, that is financially, for meeting the

         25  needs of these students.
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          2                 One approach to doing this is the

          3  development of centers of excellence, similar to the

          4  card model in Albany, which is the Center for Autism

          5  and Related Disabilities.  We need to establish

          6  centers of excellence that could provide expertise

          7  to struggling schools and families.  I believe this

          8  is where we should spend our resources.

          9                 Two basic questions are apparent to

         10  me.  Should we use our tax dollars to send our

         11  children away to be neglected and abused or should

         12  we keep those tax dollars in New York and focus on

         13  accessing and building expertise in New York to

         14  effectively support these children and their

         15  families?  And, of course, the answer, well, the

         16  answer is obvious to me.

         17                 When a child is challenging our

         18  skills, why should we use our resources to seek out

         19  someone or an agency with expertise in aversives?

         20  That's what we're doing now.  We're saying, we need

         21  people who know, really understand aversives.

         22  Instead, we should use those resources to seek out

         23  people with expertise in positive supports.

         24                 Our new regulations that people have

         25  been talking about today seem to support seeking
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          2  experts in the use of aversives and I say shame on

          3  us.  I've observed some of our out of- state

          4  placements.  I even tried the contingent electric

          5  shock and let me clearly and strongly express that

          6  it is no bee sting, as it is sometimes likened to.

          7  It is an intense and painful stimulus.

          8                 I pondered a few weeks ago, when the

          9  national, or actually, international news was a buzz

         10  with debate about the humanity of using varying

         11  levels of torture on prisoners suspected of

         12  terrorism, that is people who are suspected of

         13  trying to or planning to kill thousands and

         14  thousands of Americans.  There was public outcry and

         15  public debate about should we be doing that.

         16                 But, where is the public outcry

         17  regarding people with disabilities?  Why are we not

         18  outraged about using pain on individuals who are not

         19  planning the demise of other humans?  Why are we not

         20  outraged about using pain on people who have

         21  committed no crime?  I believe that, whether it be

         22  tomorrow, next year or 25 years from now, there will

         23  great shame and embarrassment that we let this

         24  continue.

         25                 Further, not only are we letting the
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          2  use of aversives continue, our new regulations

          3  legitimize and provide a bureaucratic structure for

          4  the use of aversives.  The child specific exception

          5  that some people have referred to today creates an

          6  approved path for the use of aversive strategies,

          7  such as contingent electric shock.

          8                 By the way, somebody had mentioned

          9  earlier, those panel of experts, they don't get to

         10  say yes or no.  They get to make a recommendation to

         11  the school and the school will then hear or not

         12  hear, listen or not listen to that recommendation.

         13  So, if that panel says, I don't think you should use

         14  it, the school does not have to listen to it.  The

         15  regulations describe a panel of experts to recommend

         16  whether we will allow the child to be subjected to

         17  aversives when we should, instead, be describing

         18  panels of experts to provide the technical skills to

         19  humanely and effectively support our children.

         20  Those are the schools who are in trouble.  When a

         21  school says they need to use aversives, our response

         22  should be no, you need to get more support.

         23                 By the way, we can't look up in our

         24  books of evidence- based strategies and we all have

         25  to use evidence- based strategies, how to correctly
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          2  use shock or strangling or deep muscle squeezes, as

          3  listed in the regs.  We can't look in the directory

          4  for Ph.D.s who studied shock or strangling in their

          5  doc. Programs.  Why?  Because, this is not supported

          6  in books and it is not part of doctoral training

          7  programs.

          8                 But, we can look to hundreds of

          9  books, research articles, on how to develop

         10  powerful, positive behavior support programs and we

         11  can depend on the many professionals who were

         12  trained in their doctoral studies how specifically

         13  to provide positive behavior supports.

         14                 Again, let me say, if we do not

         15  change what we are doing and where we are heading,

         16  we will, one day, be ashamed and embarrassed that we

         17  did not take a stronger stand.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         19  Thank you Dr. Brown and we'll hear from Paul

         20  Cassone, The Guild for Exceptional Children.

         21                 MR. CASSONE:  Thank you Mr. Chairman

         22  and I thank the entire Council for the opportunity

         23  to speak to you today and for your vigilance on

         24  behalf of our children.  Thank you.

         25                 My name is Paul Cassone.  I'm the
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          2  Executive Director, CEO of The Guild for Exceptional

          3  Children in Brooklyn. I have worked in, with people

          4  with developmental disabilities for more than 30

          5  years and I'm a licensed special ed. Teacher and I

          6  have a brother with a developmental disability.

          7                 As the Executive Director of The

          8  Guild, I want to state my firm support of Intro.

          9  Number 396, a local law to amend the New York City

         10  Charter in relation to requiring the New York City

         11  Department of Education to report on the

         12  implementation of Billy's Law.

         13                 The decision to trust a son or

         14  daughter to a residential program is an agonizing

         15  decision for parents. They're torn with mixed

         16  emotions, helplessness at being unable to provide

         17  the necessary care for the child, guilt for giving

         18  up the child to strangers and hope that this very

         19  difficult decision will be the correct decision and

         20  that will yield professional treatment and a better

         21  life for the child.

         22                 When the placement occurs within New

         23  York State, the decision is difficult enough.  When

         24  the placement occurs outside of New York, often

         25  hundreds of miles away, the decision is
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          2  exponentially more difficult for parents.

          3                 It's my firm belief that New York

          4  State, in its commitment to children with diverse

          5  life challenges, and in the spirit of Billy's Law,

          6  must redouble its efforts to ensure that proper

          7  education and treatment is available within New York

          8  State, ideally, within a reasonable distance for

          9  parents, for all children, regardless of the level

         10  or number or the type of difficulties that they

         11  have.

         12                 Intro. Number 396, in specifically

         13  requiring the New York City Department of Ed. To

         14  report to the Council, on a twice- yearly basis,

         15  critical information about the identities and

         16  performance of out- of- state residential schools,

         17  including enforcement actions, any corrective

         18  actions taken by the schools, reports of abuse and

         19  neglect, how they were investigated, reported to

         20  concerned parties, corrective actions taken on the

         21  part of the school, will provide an enhanced level

         22  of comfort to parents and will strengthen and

         23  support the broader requirements of Billy's Law.

         24                 I believe this bill is a good

         25  starting point for ensuring that children served out
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          2  of New York receive humane, professional care and I

          3  urge the Council to do everything in its power to

          4  ensure that the New York City Department of

          5  Education provides this necessary oversight and also

          6  cooperates to the fullest extent possible with all

          7  stakeholders to enable New York City- based agencies

          8  and schools to develop appropriate educational

          9  opportunities for all children right here in New

         10  York.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you sir.

         12  Now, we'll hear from Ronald Smith, PS162, Manhattan

         13  District 75.

         14                 MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Good morning.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Good afternoon.

         16                 MR. SMITH:  Oh, I did it again.  Good

         17  afternoon honorable Council Education Committee

         18  Chair, Robert Jackson and Education Committee

         19  Members.  My name is Ronald Smith from P162.

         20                 I want to start by saying, it was

         21  ironic how the counsel for Antwone's mom mentioned

         22  in some of his testimony that there was a threat

         23  against teachers at this facility if they were to

         24  speak out.  Okay, that's going to be just something

         25  for the future, but it's kind of ironic.
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          2                 While I have recently come before the

          3  City Council Committee, speaking in support of

          4  Intro. Number 344, again, I primarily a key subject

          5  for Intro. Number 83.  Today, I am here, in keeping

          6  my commitment to legislation other than teacher

          7  protection.  I am in support of Intro. Number 396,

          8  requiring the Department of Education to report on

          9  the implementation of Billy's Law.

         10                 As a special education teacher, I see

         11  many young students with special needs and I also

         12  see how vulnerable they are.  The Department of

         13  Education should make it a priority to assist the

         14  various agencies, such as OCFS, CCF, OMH, SED and

         15  DOH, just to name a few, in establishing improved

         16  monitoring and quality of care for our public school

         17  students.

         18                 New York City teachers automatically

         19  are bestowed with the responsibility of watching

         20  over and protecting our children.  It should not be

         21  a request, but a mandate that the Department of

         22  Education play a role in the continued well- being

         23  of our students with special needs within New York

         24  City and out of- state placements.

         25                 I don't know if I'm stretching it
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          2  here, but if someone from DOE saw me speaking today

          3  in support of something that they're not in support

          4  of, I'd probably be removed.  But, then again, I

          5  already have been removed.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  We want to

          7  thank you for coming in and giving testimony.  I'm

          8  sure that every member of the Department of

          9  Education has a right to come in and give testimony

         10  concerning any subject without being removed or the

         11  fear of being removed.

         12                 I would hope that's the truth.  But,

         13  I know, in fact, that's not the truth because I know

         14  that many people fear that if they speak out to

         15  truth and justice, that they will be retaliated

         16  against in one form or the other.  Knowing that 99.9

         17  percent of those individuals are not wealthy and

         18  they need their source of income to pay their rent

         19  and to maintain their lives, many, because of the

         20  situations regarding retaliation, I guess, make a

         21  judgment to keep quiet rather than speak out.

         22  That's not good.

         23                 Let me just ask a couple of questions

         24  and then I'll turn it over to my colleagues.  You

         25  referred to, Mr. Smith, as to Intro. Numbers 344 and
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          2  83 and many people talk to me as far as Intro.

          3  Numbers.  What are those Intros. About because the

          4  subject area is most important to me, more so than

          5  the number?

          6                 MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Sorry for that.

          7  The first one was something sponsored by Madam

          8  Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum on special education

          9  and transparency  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Right, we held

         11  a Hearing on that not too long ago.

         12                 MR. SMITH:  Correct and I tried my

         13  best at that Hearing, but.  The other one, of

         14  course, is Intro. Number 83, which is the whistle-

         15  blower protection for teachers.  I personally know a

         16  large part of the, many teachers, right now today,

         17  who support what I'm going through for the last four

         18  years.  But, they tell me they're afraid of their

         19  jobs if they come forward to help me.  But, no

         20  offense, I don't need their help.  I'm going to win

         21  this on my own.

         22                 But, they, even today, as we speak,

         23  2006, are afraid to come forward for me at, what is

         24  it again, PS162? Because they'll be treated the same

         25  I'm being treated.  Like you say, they have
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          2  mortgages and they have families and things of that

          3  nature.  So, when we do finally get to address,

          4  again, Intro. 83, with my particular background, I

          5  can't even disclose it today, that's how bad it is

          6   --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Also,

          8  you made, you spelled out acronyms, OCFS, that's the

          9  Office of Children Family Services  --

         10                 MR. SMITH:  Exactly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  I know what

         12  OMH, the Office of Mental Health, SED is State

         13  Education Department and DOH is the Department of

         14  Health  --

         15                 MR. SMITH:  Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  But I do

         17  not know what the acronym, CCF, can you tell me what

         18  that is?

         19                 MR. SMITH:  Okay.  CCS was  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  CCF.

         21                 MR. SMITH:  Right, F, sorry.  CCF is

         22  Council on Children and Families.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         24                 MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I did my homework.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Council
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          2  Member Fidler.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you Mr.

          4  Chairman. For clarity of the record, I got the

          5  impression that DOE, while not using the words

          6  specifically, said they would support 396, even as

          7  amended.  You know, we may have some substantive

          8  disagreements past that, but I got the distinct

          9  impression that within the authority that Ms.

         10  Wernikoff has, she was in favor of it.  So, I think

         11  that should be clear from the record.

         12                 Dr. Brown, in your testimony, you

         13  said that, I'm paraphrasing, I don't have it in

         14  front of me in writing, that we're being encouraged

         15  to look for experts in aversive behavioral

         16  techniques.  Did you say something like that?

         17                 DR. BROWN:  I said that the child-

         18  specific panels are, I think that's what you might

         19  be referring to, child specific panels are going to

         20  agree or not agree with the request for using

         21  aversives on a particular child.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And who are

         23  on these panels?

         24                 DR. BROWN:  Well, the initial call

         25  for applications to be on the panels when out to
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          2  only licensed behavioral psychologists.  Then it

          3  was, actually, I made a couple of complaints about

          4  that, because I thought there's a lot of people that

          5  should be involved, including families, on those

          6  panels and special educators on those panels.  But,

          7  I'm not sure if that influenced anything, but the

          8  newest call for people to participate on those

          9  panels extended it to also people, other people with

         10  expertise in severe disabilities, severe challenging

         11  behaviors with advanced degrees.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  See, the

         13  reason I'm asking about that is because it kind of

         14  contradicts a little bit the answer that Mr. Mollins

         15  gave me when I asked, are there behavioral

         16  therapists that believe in aversive techniques and

         17  the answer was no, you know, no reputable, it's not

         18  acceptable medical practice, no reputable therapist

         19  is going to support that.

         20                 DR. BROWN:  Right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  How do you

         22  jive those two statements?

         23                 DR. BROWN:  Well, I wasn't saying

         24  that the people on those panels are necessarily

         25  going to believe in aversives or support that.  But,
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          2  they are trying to get people who are objective on

          3  those panels.

          4                 In terms of the field itself, though,

          5  I think, I don't know of anybody or any group of

          6  people who would support, for example, contingent

          7  electric shock.  But there is controversy in the

          8  field if there should never be any type of aversives

          9  and aversives, of course, could be defined broadly,

         10  narrowly. There's even controversy what, how you

         11  define aversives.  But, I don't know of any

         12  professional who would support contingent electric

         13  shock in the field.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  So,

         15  that narrows Mr. Mollins's answer a little bit.  If

         16  you were counseling me and I were wrong about my

         17  legal conclusion as to whether or not this Council

         18  has the power to restrict the use of City funds for

         19  institutions like Rotenberg, how would you phrase

         20  that restriction? We give you City funds to enroll,

         21  place, educate a young person in an institution that

         22  practices what?

         23                 DR. BROWN:  Aversive therapy, yeah, I

         24    --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, but  --
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          2                 DR. BROWN:  --  Would  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  You're

          4  saying that there are people who believe that some

          5  aversive therapy is  --

          6                 DR. BROWN:  There are a select  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --

          8  Acceptable practice.

          9                 DR. BROWN:  Personally, I don't agree

         10  with those people.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  But, I'm  --

         12                 DR. BROWN:  I agree that  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  But, I'm not,

         14  I'm not  --

         15                 DR. BROWN:  --  There should be no

         16  aversive therapy.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I'm not a,

         18  I'm not a behavioral therapist and I'm not going to

         19  be so arrogant as to believe that I have answers to

         20  things that other people go to get their doctorates

         21  in and if they disagree with me.  You know, I heard

         22  a few moments ago that there was universal feeling

         23  about this practice.  Can you limit the, you know,

         24  the phraseology to that part of the practice that is

         25  universally condemned?
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          2                 DR. BROWN:  The, the list of

          3  strategies that State Ed. List in there, which was

          4  contingent skin shock, shoving water mist, foul

          5  tasting liquids, strangling, shoving, I didn't

          6  memorize the list, that whole list?  What?  Hurling,

          7  I'm not sure what the hurling was, but I probably

          8  don't agree with it.  That whole list, I would say

          9  that  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, what  --

         11                 DR. BROWN:  --  They  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  Are the

         13  aversive techniques  --

         14                 DR. BROWN:  --  Should not be

         15  allowed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  That some

         17  people find acceptable that are, that are in the

         18  mainstream of  --

         19                 DR. BROWN:  There is some controversy

         20  in the field regarding the use of physical

         21  restraint.  Not physical restraint for protection.

         22  I don't think there's anybody who disagrees with

         23  physical restraint when there's an emergency

         24  situation, the person is going to hurt themselves or

         25  others.  But, some have advocated for the right, in
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          2  certain situations, to use physical restraint as

          3  punishment.  I do not agree with that, but there are

          4  some people who, who would support that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And the State

          6  Department of Education has a list of aversive

          7  techniques that they find acceptable?

          8                 DR. BROWN:  Well, they list those and

          9  they say, we want to prohibit them, except for the

         10  child exception, child exception waiver.  So, yes,

         11  at first glance, it appears to be prohibiting.  Say,

         12  we want to prohibit this list of aversives. But

         13  then, if you could go through the child exception

         14  waiver, then the school can be approved to do it.

         15  That's what we're having, that's what, at least, I'm

         16  having a problem with.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, I have

         18  a problem with them too, because they strike me as a

         19  little bit barbaric -

         20                 DR. BROWN:  A little bit, yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  And I

         22  prefer to think I live in a civilized society, but,

         23  what I'm trying to get a handle on is, and I'm

         24  concerned about the hypertechnical (phonetic) legal

         25  issues of preemption and things like that.  It
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          2  strikes me that we're not going to be able to do

          3  what I'd very much would like to do, which is make

          4  it impossible to use City money to pay for this kind

          5  of barbarism.  I suspect we won't be able to do

          6  that.  But, I was trying to get from you some help

          7  on language that  --

          8                 DR. BROWN:  Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  Might

         10  narrow it in a way.

         11                 DR. BROWN:  I think the types of

         12  things that there are controversy about are not

         13  those things that are included in there.  It's much

         14  more detailed microlevel of debate, but not of those

         15  things.  Shoving, hurling, strangling, et cetera, I

         16  don't know of any professional who would agree to

         17  any of that, anywhere.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  Thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Council Member

         21  Vincent Gentile of Brooklyn.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I have to

         23  say that, you know, Councilman Fidler is very

         24  perceptive, because here we are with the State

         25  regulations, the temporary regulations that they've
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          2  put out and they list all these aversive activities,

          3  which they're saying are, should not happen, should

          4  not be done. These are things that we don't want our

          5  children in New York State subjected to.

          6                 It sounds like a very strong

          7  prohibition against these types of aversives in the

          8  Regents Regulations that they just put out.  But,

          9  then, they add the clause at the end, the clause at

         10  the end is added that unless it's been shown or can

         11  be shown that there are no other options available

         12  or some of type of waiver can be obtained that can

         13  be shown.

         14                 So, basically it's a paper tiger in

         15  many ways, the regulations that have been put out by

         16  the State Board of Regents. It's something as, you

         17  know, Assemblyman Gottfried, in this letter to the

         18  State Board of Regents, saying, you should not try

         19  to regulate it, you should just prohibit it.  And,

         20  indicates that there would be a national outcry and

         21  outrage if this were happening at Guantanamo Bay or

         22  happened, you know, in a way that where we would

         23  have a national issue, but because it's happening to

         24  kids in out- of- state facilities, it's out of

         25  sight, out of mind.
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          2                 It really is something that I think,

          3  now, is coming to light and should be.  I'm just

          4  curious now, at this point, I know the hour's late,

          5  but I think Dr. Brown and Mr. Cassone, you both

          6  indicated and spoke about the in- state facilities.

          7  Now, I know, Mr. Cassone, you head an in- state

          8  facility and it's a residential, part of your

          9  facility is a residential facility.

         10                 I'm curious, do each of you have an

         11  opinion about the state's effort, to date, to place

         12  more of these people, more of these students in-

         13  state as opposed to out- of- state?  I'm getting a

         14  sense that there's never been a real effort here to

         15  make sure that in- state facilities had the

         16  accommodations, the ability to serve these students.

         17                 MR. CASSONE:  There's actually a

         18  movement, I'd say over the past year or so, to build

         19  up New York State's capacity to serve these

         20  children.  There has been some partnerships between

         21  people who operate 853- schools and agencies like

         22  The Guild that doesn't operate them, but does

         23  operate residences, for example.  The partnership

         24  has started with, I believe, it's actually one of

         25  the provisions of Billy's Law, that mandates that
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          2  OMYDD, the OMH and other entities cooperatively work

          3  together. The effort has been out there.

          4                 In speaking to one of the Associate

          5  Commissioners about this effort, her comment was she

          6  wishes that the parties would cooperate and release

          7  the names of the children and work together so that

          8  they would actually be able to develop appropriate

          9  settings.  Her sense was that not enough cooperative

         10  effort has occurred.  That's why I included that

         11  comment in my note, indicating that I would

         12  encourage you to make sure that that type of

         13  cooperation occurs, so that  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So, is it

         15  the case  --

         16                 MR. CASSONE:  --  Doesn't happen.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  --  That the

         18  different state agencies, OMRDD, Office of Mental,

         19  what is it?  The Office of Mental?

         20                 MR. CASSONE:  Office of Mental Health

         21    --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Health,

         23  right  --

         24                 MR. CASSONE:  --  And New York State

         25  Department of --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Of Ed.

          3                 MR. CASSONE:  --  Education.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  They each,

          5  on their own, evaluate these programs and facilities

          6  and determine whether they're appropriate, out- of-

          7  state facilities?  Am I correct on that?

          8                 MR. CASSONE:  No.  Actually, what I

          9  was saying was that with regard to the effort to

         10  develop the in- house ones, they have been

         11  cooperatively working  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I see.

         13                 MR. CASSONE:  --  To do it.  In terms

         14  of monitoring the out- of- state ones, to be honest

         15  with you, after today, I'm not sure who's monitoring

         16  them.  But, you know, and I think that's a question

         17  that remains to be seen.  But, it's, if nothing

         18  else, you've shown a spotlight on this issue and I

         19  think that your bill is a very good way to begin to

         20  get this, to get some of these answers and it seems

         21  like you've started down that path.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  It just

         23  strikes me that we have identified facilities out of

         24  state, but we haven't been able to identify them

         25  within the state.  What I'm hearing is that, given
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          2  the effort, we could find in- state facilities that

          3  could serve the same purposes.

          4                 MR. CASSONE:  And we can encourage

          5  the development of such facilities.  Within OMRDD,

          6  which basically serves the same children, but

          7  they're just older by the time OMRDD gets them,

          8  there are no aversives of any kind allowed.  You

          9  cannot use them period.

         10                 The people still will exhibit

         11  challenging behaviors, they'll still exhibit self-

         12  injurious behaviors, in many cases, but there are

         13  ways to use  --  in fact, OMRDD came up with a

         14  curriculum called Positive Approaches that exactly

         15  addresses this and that talks about manipulating the

         16  environment to make it less likely that people will

         17  be challenging in the first place, that talks about

         18  graduated ways of giving positive behavioral strokes

         19  to get people to behave in a more adaptive way, in a

         20  better way, to eliminate the behaviors.  It's very

         21  successful.

         22                 There are, an agency that I worked

         23  with before this, called Lifespire, developed a

         24  program called Fresh Start, what was specifically

         25  for individuals who had been, quote, thrown out of
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          2  at least three other adult programs who had had some

          3  hospitalizations because of psychiatric issues and

          4  challenging behaviors and it was a zero rejection

          5  program.  Anyone that was referred to the program by

          6  New York State, the program operates in Queens, the

          7  agency was required to accept.  It's a very

          8  successful program and no aversives of any kind are

          9  used.

         10                 So, I guess, the answer is, it can be

         11  done.  I don't know that enough effort has occurred

         12  to encourage the development.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  It sounds to

         14  me that many of the older students at JRC might do

         15  very well at the OMRDD program that has been created

         16  recently.

         17                 MR. CASSONE:  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Which is

         19  another indication that we need to do better work on

         20  the state level on these programs.

         21                 MR. CASSONE:  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Yes.

         23                 MR. SMITH:  Can I just make a point

         24   --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Sure.
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          2                 MR. SMITH:  --  Of information, being

          3  a teacher here in DOE?  I'm in a special ed. School

          4  on 116th Street.  When the students were first

          5  brought to us, a lot of the parents said, you see me

          6  today and you do not see me until June, which was

          7  okay with me.

          8                 What had happened was, I think we

          9  turned our school around because what we did is we

         10  used positive reinforcement, not negative and what

         11  did I use for positive reinforcement?  I was

         12  assigned to be in charge of the assemblies. Then, I

         13  said, if I can make these assemblies something that

         14  the students would want to be attracted to, maybe

         15  their behavior would change, you know, I didn't

         16  know.

         17                 So, I started doing family feud and,

         18  you know, history- based questions, of course, in

         19  these assemblies and the next thing you know,

         20  students are raising their hands left and right.  To

         21  make a long story short, in the three years that I

         22  started doing assembly programs at the school, the

         23  behavioral, how should I put it, capabilities, or at

         24  least negative ones, from the students probably

         25  decreased 90 percent.
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          2                 Of course, parents were telling us

          3  now, what is your secret, what did you do to my

          4  child?  Of course, we felt positive, I mean, we felt

          5  proud, the teachers that helped me, in those three

          6  years that that happened, because it taught us

          7  something.  Doing averse something, whatever they

          8  kept saying, to a student is not the answer, okay,

          9  it wasn't.

         10                 Yeah, we had restraint in our school

         11  and things of that nature.  But, you'd be surprised

         12  when we implemented some positive things and you saw

         13  the size eights and the size sevens, if you still

         14  remember what those were.  Again, what they were,

         15  were they were level of categories for, you know,

         16  special ed. Students.

         17                 But, again, in the three years I was

         18  there doing the assemblies and the way I formulated

         19  them, the behavior of students, it changed.  I mean,

         20  the parents will tell you and hopefully I could

         21  still find those parents who said, Mr. Smith, and

         22  actually a lot of those parents are on the teacher,

         23  on the school leadership team.  So, just to show you

         24  that we have involvement also in our school from the

         25  parents.
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          2                 But, again, all we did was implement

          3  something positive with these "special ed. Students"

          4  and then the same students you're talking about here

          5  and Billy, who got this adverse (sic) treatments,

          6  look what happened to them?  Then, actually, we had

          7  to mainstream them, because they were, you know,

          8  excelling farther than we had planned.

          9                 Again, you can check in the records

         10  at P162 from the years I was there and you'll see

         11  this.  To just end this, one of my, one of my

         12  punishments, when I was at the school, which is

         13  again why I'm here now, is because they said, Mr.

         14  Smith, we're going to take away your assemblies.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So, that

         16  just underscores the fact that positive

         17  reinforcement is  --  yes.

         18                 DR. BROWN:  I'd be proud if he was my

         19  student and came to my program.  Absolutely,

         20  positive reinforcement, fabulous.  However, just a

         21  little bit of a reality check is that the students,

         22  the people who end up at JRC and other places have

         23  very severe behavior problems.

         24                 Often, just using positive

         25  reinforcement does not work and trust me, I am the
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          2  biggest proponent of positive reinforcement.  But

          3  that is, when I'm referring to something called

          4  positive behavior supports, I'm talking about an

          5  applied behavior analytic approach, a scientific

          6  approach.  Positive reinforcement, all the positive

          7  approaches that are going on in many schools,

          8  fabulous, they're going to help 80 percent of the

          9  children or whatever.

         10                 But, there's going to be the handful

         11  of children and those are the ones of concern.

         12  Those are the ones that are going to really, really

         13  challenge our commitment to staying away from

         14  aversives and that's why I kept saying, when those

         15  things happen, that's when they need to call on the

         16  expertise.  They are challenging.  There's no doubt

         17  about it and that's what the parents of the children

         18  who are at JRC, who are the biggest proponents of

         19  it, that's what they're saying, your schools failed

         20  my child.  That's how they ended up there.

         21                 So, we need to give the schools more

         22  support and positive behavior analysis to, to give

         23  them, you know, really strong, powerful

         24  scientifically- based analytic procedures and we

         25  need to give that expertise to the schools.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, let me

          3  thank you on behalf of the entire Committee and City

          4  Council for coming in and giving your testimony.

          5  Dr. Brown, Mr. Cassone and Mr. Smith, we appreciate

          6  you sitting through the Hearing and hearing the

          7  testimony.

          8                 I would also like to thank all of the

          9  staff involved in putting together all of the

         10  details of this Hearing today.  Sitting to my left

         11  is my Counsel, Scheherazade Salimi, not my Counsel,

         12  the Counsel to the Education Committee, Jennifer

         13  Culp, our Legislative Policy Analyst to my left, Jan

         14  Atwell, Legislative Policy Analyst and Anthony

         15  Hogrebe, who is our Press Officer and Regina Poreda,

         16  who is a Financial Analyst for this Committee, and

         17  all the other staff and members of, the staff

         18  members that have been involved in bringing about

         19  this Hearing today.

         20                 I agree with you, Mr. Cassone, that

         21  this Hearing today is putting a spotlight on this

         22  very important issue and many have said that it's

         23  just the beginning.  So, we have a long way to go to

         24  ensure the safety and security and the education of

         25  students that have not, that are in need of
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          2  assistance, get all of the help that they can, to be

          3  the most successful individuals that they can in

          4  today's society.  So, I want to thank you for coming

          5  in and at this point in time, then I'll declare this

          6  Hearing over.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 2:10 p.m.)
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